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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELEOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION]} ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD ({IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs Dx: 259 Melbourne
Prapared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3666
Lawyers Ref: MO1H:MJER:B057887
Collins Squara, Tower Two Aftention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda.hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourna, Vicloria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-5" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley al the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:
: ISABELLA E
fatatlpra 27 Coim . om0
n taking affidav P Py :
Signature of parson taking An Australinn legal practitioner
within [h meaaring of e Lospl

o - gj{? ler'I'_‘uf|:\-;-_'.;-_.||_'||'| Lo Loy ['l.-"i. i)
# I:E: ; 7 ‘%

Ross Andrew Blaketgy

Exhibit "RAB-5"
Copies of ASIC Class Order and the Deeds of
Cross Guarantee

[BOSTEET D06; 20812455 _1| page &



Pl

ASIC Class Order [CO 98/1418]
Wholly-owned entities
This instrument has effect under s341(1) of ithe Corporations Aci 2001.

This compilation was prepared on 22 August 2013 taking into account amendments up to

[CO 13/1051).

Prepaved by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission,

Australian Securities and Investments Comunission
Subsection 341(¥) — Corporations Act 2001
Class Orders and Revocations

First order

Pursnant to subsection 341{1) of the Corporations Act 2001 (“the Act™), the Australian
Secwrities and Investments Commission (“*ASIC) hereby makes an order relievinga
company (“the Entity”) from the requirement to coniply with the following provisions of
the Act in relation to a financial year ending on or after 1 July 1998 (“the Relevant
Financial Year™):

—  Paragraphs 292(1)(b) and {(c) (the requivements to prepare a financial report and
directors’ report);

—— Subsection 301(1) {the requirement to have the financial report audited);
— Subsections 314(1}, 315(1) and 315(4) and section 316 (the requirements concerning
distribution of the financial veport, directors’ report and auditors’ report and any

concise financial report (“the reports”™) to members);

— Section 317 (the requirement for a public company to lay reports before an annual
general meeting);

~— Subsection 319(1) (the requirement to lodge reports with ASIC); and

— Sections 3274, 3278 and 327C (the requirement for a public company to appoint an
anditor).

ON CONDITION THAT:

Refevant Financicd Year

{a) The financial year of the Holding Entity ends on the same date as the end of the
Relevant Financial Year;

PES Gy

Restrictions on the Entity, Holding Eniity and Trustee

{b}  The Enmity is oue of the Wholly-owned Entities of the Holding Eniity at the end of the Refevani Financial Year
and 1s:

Fedeval Regiser of Legisiative Dnstroments 20 13CTH678



(1) apublic company;
(i) alarge proprietary company; or
(iit) a small proprietary company to which paragraph 292(2)(b) applies;

(¢} The Entity is not a boirower in relation to debentures, a disclosing entity, or a
financial services licensee;

(d) The Holding Entity is not a small proprietary company;

(da) Except in relation to a Deed of Cross Guarantee lodged with ASIC before 1 July 2004
— a company holds office as tinstee under the Deed of Cross Guarantee;

(db) Except in relation to a Deed of Cross Guarantes lodged with ASIC before | July 2004
— if the person holding office as trustee under the Deed of Cross Guarantee is a
Group Entity within the meaning of that Deed, another person that is a company
holds office as altemative tiustee under that Deed;

Consolidated financial statemenis

(e} The Holding Entity has prepared consolidated financial statements which include a
consolidated statement of cash flows together with notes thereto for the Relevant
Financial Year (“the Consolidated Financia) Statements™);

(f) If the Holding Entity is not a registered foreign company:

(1) where the economic entity comprising the IHolding Entity and its confrolied
entities was not a reporting entity (as deﬁned in accounting standards):

(A) the Consohd'ucd Financial Statements covered at least those control 1ed
entities whicly were part of the Extended Closed Group and included no
entities which were not controlled eniities:

(B) where the Consolidated Financial Statements did not cover the entire

econoniic entity, the notes thereto made it clear which entities were covered
by those Consolidated Financial Statements;

(C) accounting standard AASB 1024 “Consclidated Accounts” (except
paragraph 39) (for reporting periods commencing before 1 January 2005) or
AASB 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” {except
paragraphs 40 and Ausd0.1) (for reporting periods commencing on or after
1 January 2005} was applied as if the entities to which the Congsolidated
Financial Statements relate were a reporting entity; and

(D) the Holding Entity complied with al} of the other requirements of Chapter
2M as if the Consolidated Financial Staiemenis were part of its financial
report;

(i) where s319(4) of the Corporations Law (as taken {o be mcluded in the Act by
514082 of the Act) applies o the Holding Entity, (he Consolidaied Financial
Statemenis are lodged with ASIC within 4 months {or for a financial year
commencing from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005 (both inclusive), 5
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months} afier the end of the Relevant Financial Year unless all entities i the
Closed Group are Exempt Entities; and

(11) where all enfities which are parties to the Deed of Cross Guaranies are Exempt
Entities, the Holding Entity lodged with ASIC within 4 months (or for a financial
year conuuencing flom 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005 (both inclusive), 5
months) after the end of the Relevant Financial Year a document signed by one
divector or the company secretary (in accordance with a resolution of the
directors) containing:

{A) the information required by subparagraphs (1)(1) to {iv);
(B) astatement that all entities in the Closed Group are Exempt Entities; and

(C) the statement required to be included in the directors’ declaration under
paragraph (i);

(g} If the Holding Entity is a registered foreign company:

(i} the Holding Entity prepared Consclidated Financial Statements 1 accordance
with:

(A} where the Holding Entity is controlled by a disclosing entity formed or
incorporated w1 Ausiralia, a company or a registered scheme — the
requiresnents of Chapter 2M (including §295(4)) as if the Holding Entity
were a public company {and paragraph (£)(1) may be applied as if the
Holding Entity was not a registered foreign company);

(B} where (A} does not apply — a requirement of the law w its place of origin,
and those Consolidated Financial Statements covered the Holding Entity and
at least those controlled entities which are part of the Extended Closed
Gioup (and included a note maling it clear which entities were covered by
those Consolidated Financial Statements); ox

{C) where neither (A) not (B) applies — the requirements of Chapter 2M as to
- the form and content of Consolidated Financiaj Statements, as if the Holding

Entity were a public company and covering at least those enfities in the
Extended Closed Group; and

(ii} the Holding Entity lodged the Consolidated Financial Statements with ASIC no
later than 4 months aiter the end of the Relevant Financial Year;

{h) The Consolidated Financial Statements:

(i1} include adequate provision in relation to the liabilities of any pariies fo the Deed
of Cross Guarantee which are not consolidated where it is probable that those
labilities will not be fully met by those pariies;

(i) The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemenis:

(i) inchude a short statement of the nature of the Deed of Cross Guaranicee;

(i) list the parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, separately identifying:
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(&) the members of the Closed Group; and
(B} the other members of the Extended Closed Group;

(ili} give details (including dates) of pariies which, during or since the Relevant
Financial Yeax, have been:

(A) added by an Assumption Deed coutemplated by the Deed of Cross
Guarantee;

(B) removed by a Revocation Deed contemplated by the Deed of Cross
Guarantee; or

(C) the subject of a Notice of Disposal conternplated by the Deed of Cross
Guarantee;

(iv) give details (including dates and reasons) of any entities which obtained relief
under this order or z previous order at the end of the immediately preceding
financial year but which were meligible for relief in respect of the Relevant
Financial Year;

(v} ifthe Congolidated Financial Statements cover entilies which are not members of
the Closed Group, set out the information specified in the Schedule in respect of
the cousolidation of the entities which are members of the Closed Group (after
eliminating all iransactions between members of the Closed Group);

(vi) if the Consolidated Financial Statements cover entities which are not parties to
the Deed of Cross Guarautee, set ouf the information specified in the Schedule
in respect of the cousolidation of the Holding Entity and those enfities which are
patties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee and controiled by the Holding Entity
(after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross
Guarantee); and

(vi)if there ave any parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee which are not contvolled
by the Holding Entity, set out the information specified in the Schedule in respect
of those parties (efther individually or in aggregate};

A statement as to whether, as at the date of the relevant document, thexe are
reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group
(identified in the note required by paragraph (1)(ii)) wit! be able to mest any
obligations or habilities to which they are, or may becoine, subject by virtue of the
Deed of Cross Guarantee is included in all of the following documents (as
applicable):

(i) the divectors’ declaration of the Holding Entity {or the Relevant Financial Year
(including a directors’ declaration prepared pursuant to subparagraph (2)(I{AN;

(ii) the docwinent required by paragraph (H)(ifi); and
{111} where subparagraphs (g1} RY or (C) anply, a docwment signad by a diventor in

accordance with a resolution of directors and lodged with ASIC with the
Consolidated Financial Statements within 4 montls (or for a financial year
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comimencing from 1 Jannary 2005 to 31 December 2005 (both mclusive), 5
months) after the end of the Relevant Financial Year;

Opi-in and opt-out notices by the Entity
(k) Unless:

(i} the Enfity tock advantage of the relief available under this order in respect of the
financial year immediately preceding the Relevant Financial Year; and

(i1) the Holding Entity of the Entity is the same for the Relevant Financial Year and
the financial year imimediately preceding it,

a notice signed by a director or secretary 1s lodged with ASIC using Form 389 within
4 months after the end of the relevant financial vear, containing a statement that the

Entity has taken advantage of relief under this order together with the identity of the
Holding Entity;

(ka) If the relief available under this order is not taken advantage of i respect of a
financial year (the first non-relicitce year) immediately following a financial year in
which relief was talen advantage of then, unless the Entity {odges an annual financial
report prepared under Chapter 2M of the Act for the first non-reliance year, a notice
that the Entity has ceased to take advantage of the relief signed by a divector or
secretary is todged with ASIC using Form 399:

(i) within 4 months after the end of the first non-reliance year; or

(21} such other tine as is approved in writing by ASIC,

Annual resolution

(IbY At or about the time of the Eatity’s balance date for the Relevant Financial Year the
directors reassess the advanlages and disadvaniages associated with the Entity
remaining a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee and taking advantage of the relief
afforded by this order and the directoss resolve either that the Entity should continne
to vemain a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, or seek 1o revoke the Deed of Cross
Guaraniee, a5 the case may be;

Timing requiventents in relation to membership of Closed Group and being payty fo the
Deed of Cross Guaraniee

(1) Before the end of the Relevant Pinancial Year:

(1) the Entity and every other entity in the Closed Group became parties to the Deed
of Cross Guarantee; and

(ii) an original of that Deed of Cross Guarautee (or the relevant Assumption Deed)
has been lodged with ASIC; and

(i11) where the lodgement of a Deed veferred to in paragraph (it) occurs on ov after |
July 2004 — an original of acertificate relajing to that Deed is also lodged with
ASIC, where that cextificate conforms with the definition of Certificate as it
appeared in this oxder at the time that the Deed was lodged;
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{m) Where the Deed of Cross Guarantee has been lodged with ASIC before 1 July 2004,
that Deed has been approved by ASIC at least 60 days before the signing of the
Holding Entity's directors' declaration for the Relevant Financial Year or the
document referred to in subparagraph ()(ii);

(n) The Baotity and the Holding Entity were membess of the Closed Group and parties to
the Deed of Cross Guarautee at the end of the Relevant Financial Year and:

)

(i3

remain members of the Closed Group and parties to that Deed at all times up to,
and including, the date on which the Consolidated Financial Staternents {or the
document required by pacagraph (f)(iil}) are lodged with ASIC; or

if the Butity ceased to be a member of the Closed Group or a party fo the Deed
prior to the date on which the divectors of the Holding Entity lodged the
Consolidated Financial Statements, within one month of that cessation the Entity
became pasty to another Deed of Cross Guarantee with another holding entity, an
original of which has been lodged with ASIC, and (after making reasonable and
diligent enquiries) the Entity's divectors have no reason to believe that the Entity
may not be able to obtain relief under this order in respect of its next financial
year;

Initicd procedures in applying for relief

(o) Before the end of the first financial year in respect of which the Entity took advantage
of relief under this order or 2 previous order (being a financial year at the end of
which the Entity was one of the Wholly-owned Entities of the Holding Entity):

(1)

(i)

{v)

The directors of the Eutity have made a statement, signed by at least 1 divector,
stating that in the directors’ opinion immediately prior to the execution of the
Decd of Cross Guarantee or Asswmnption Deed by the Entity there were
reasonable grounds to believe that the Entity would be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable;

The directors of the Enlity have resolved that the Entity should obtain the benefit
of this order or a previous order and the directors have not revoked that
resolution or resolved to the contrary;

In respect of every other entity (fhe “Other Entity”) which has become a party to
the Deed of Cross Guayantee after the date of this ovder (rrespective of whether
the Other Entity has taken advantage of relief under this order) the divectors of
that Other Entity have made a statement, signed by at least | divector, and made
before the end of the financial year in which it became a party to the Deed of
Cross Guarantee, stating that in the directors' opinion hmmediately prior to the
execution of the Deed of Cross Guaraniee or Assumption Deed by the Other
Eutity there were reasonable grovuds to believe that the Other Entity would be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable,

except that subparagraph (0)(i) does not apply where the Entity became a paty to the
Deed of Cross Guarantee prior to 1 July 1997 and has lodged with ASIC a financial
report or financial statements containing an nnqualified divectors’ declaration
(required by section 295(4) of the Act) or directors” statement (required by section
301 or section 302 of the Corporations Law as it stood prior fo the Company Law
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Review Act 1998) 1n respect of a financial year which ended after becoming a party
to the Deed of Cross Guaraniee and before the Relevant Financial Year);

Foreign entifies

{q) No entity was a member of the Closed Group wnless it:

(1)

(i) wasacompany;

(ii) was a body corporate incorporated or formed in Australia, the United Kingdom,
New Zealand, Singapore or Hong Kong; or

(ji1) was the Holding Entity;

So long as any entity (including the Holding Entity, where applicable) which is not a
body coiporate meorporated or formed in Australia or a company (“the foreign
entity™} is a party to the Deed of Cross Guaranies the divectors of the Entity and the
Holding Entity are satisfied (as evidenced by resolutions of the directors of those two
entities), before the Holding Entity lodges the Consolidaied Financial Slatements,
that, on the basis of appropriate recent advice, the Deed of Cross Guarantee is ina
class of documents generally enforceable in the foreign entity's place of incorpovation
or formation as against the foreign entity;

Variaiions to Deed of Cross Guaraniee

(s} Neither the Entity nor the Holding Entity have terminated, repudiated or attempted to

repudiate or terminate or agreed to any variation of the Deed of Cross Guarantee
except by:

(1) an Assumption Deed contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee and either:

(A) lodged with ASIC together with a certificate relating to that Deed, where
that certificate conforms with the definition of Certificate as it appeated in
this order at the fime that the Deed was lodged; or

(B) where the Assumption Deed is lodged with ASIC before 1 July 2004 —
approved by ASIC,;

(it} a Revocation Deed conteinplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee pursuant to
which the Deed of Cross Guarantee ceases to apply to one or more entities other
than the Entity;

(ii1) the the subsiitution of a trustee, or addition or substitution of an alteimative
trustee, contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee and where the variation is
lodged with ASIC before | July 2004 — approved by ASIC; or

{iv) any variation to reflect any amendment of the ASIC Pro Forma Deed of Cross
Guaraitee (ASIC Pro Forma 24) that may be made by ASIC from thae to time;
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Companies which cease to be members of the Closed Group

{u) Within 2 months of ceasing to be a Wholly-owned Eutity, the Entity prepares 2
financial report and divectors’ report for the Relevant Financial Year and lodges those
documents with ASIC, except where:

(i) within one month, the Entity becomes a party [0 another Deed of Cross
Guarantee and (afier making reasonable and ditigent enquiries) the directors of
the Entity have no reason to believe that it will not be relieved from preparing a
. financial report under this order in respect of its next financial year,

(ii) the Bntity was also subject to relief from the requirement to prepare a financial
report pursuant to a provision of the Act or another ASIC ovder in respect of the
Relevant Financial Year;

(iii) at the time the Entity ceases to be a member of the Closed Group it is less than 1
month untl, or is after, the end of the first financial year imimediately after the
Relevant Financial Year; or

(iv) the Entity was a small proprietary company for the Relevant Finauncial Year,

Auditor of the Holding Eniily

(v) If the Holding Eutity's financial report is required to be andited, the auditor of the
Holding Entity is satisfied that paragraphs (e), (H)(1), (XD, (), () and () (as
applicable) have been complied witl; and

Entisies excluded from relying on this order
(w) ASIC has:

(i) not notified the Entity in writing that it may not rely on this order or may not rely
on this order for the Relevant Financial Year; or

(i) notified the Entity in writing that it may not rely on this ovder or may not rely on
this order for the Relevant Financial Year but has subsequently revoked or vayied
that notice so that it does not cover the Relevant Financial Year.

SCHEDULE

For reporting periods conmmencing before 1 January 2009 and where the version of
accounting standard AASB 101 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“AASB 1017)
dated September 2007 has not been adopted early by the Holding Entity for the Relevant
Financial Year, the following information for the Relevant Financial Year with
comparative information for the inunediately preceding financial year:

(i) AnIncome Statement setting out the information specified by paragraphs 81 to 85 of
accounting standard AASB [0] “Presentation of Financial Statements” issued n July
2004 (as applicable to the financial statements of the Holding Entity for the Relevant
Finencial Year) {("old AASS 10i7);
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(1) Opening and closing retained earnings, dividends provided for or paid, and transfers
to and from reserves; and

(iti) A Balance Sheet complying with parvagraphs 68 to 73 of old AASB 101,

In any other case, the following imformation for the Relevant Financial Year with
comparaiive information for the immediately preceding financial year:

(i) A Statement of Comprehensive Income setting out the information specified by
paragraphs 82 to 87 of AASB 101 and, where paragraph 84 of AASB 101 is applied,
an Income Statement;

(i) Opening and closing retained earnings, dividends provided for or paid, and transfers
to and from reserves; and

(iii) A Statement of Fmancial Pasition complying with pavagraphs 54 to 59 of AASBE 101.

Comparative information 1s only required where the Holding Entity was a holding entity
in a deed of cross guaraniee for the purposes of this order at any time during the
immedizately preceding financial year.

interpretation
In this order:

“borrower in relation to debeniures” means a body that is or will be Liable to repay money
under a debenture, but does not inchude a body that only has debentures on issue that weye
issued or allotted:

(1) by excluded issues to which pavagraph 66(2)(d) of the Corporations Law applied as
that Law stood prior to 13 March 2000; or

(i1} pursuant to offers which did not need disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 of the
Act because of s708(1) of the Act.

“Certificate” in relation to a Deed of Cross Guarantee or an Assumption Deed to which
an Enfity is a party, means one or inore cerfificates in writing addressed to the Entity, the
trustee and any altemative trustee under the Deed of Cross Guarantee and to ASIC which
together include staienents to the following effect:

(a) that the Deed is in exactly the same terms as ASIC Pro Forma 24 or 27 as the case
requires except for the following:

(1) all instructions for the mecluston of specified mformation have been replaced by
that information i a complete and accurate mamier and any consequential
changes of a minor or editorial nature that are necessary for the effective
operation of the deed have been made;

(i) execution clauses have been added, deleted, modified or varied as required in
arder to facilitate the proper execution nf the deer;

(iii) the date has been completed;
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(b)

{(iv) the headnote, the headings before the headnote and any editorial note have been
ormitied;

(v) in the case of an Assumption Deed which covers more than one Entity — such
wariations &s are necessary to enable the additional entities fo be covered;

(vi} in the case of an Assmnption Deed which covers making the trustee of the Deed
of Cross Guarantee to which the Assumption Deed reiates a member of the

Closed Gronp — such variations as are necessary o enable the Assamption Deed
to have that effect;

that, in relation to the execution of the Deed by each paity to it that is a company,
either:

(1) the Deed appears to be signed in accordance with subsection 127(1) of the Act;
or

(il) the company’'s common seal appears to have been fixed to the Deed, and the

fixinig of the seal appears fo have been witnessed, in accordance with subsesction
127(2) of the Act;

and-the provider of the certificate do es not know and has no reason to suspect that the
Deed has not been duly exeented by the company; and

{ba} that the provider of the certificate, after having made such inquiries as were

reasonable in the circunstances, is of the opinion thaf the Deed has been duly
execufed by each party (0 it that 1s not a company;

where:

(e)

the certificates referred to in paragraphs (a}, {(b) and (ba) are given by a lawyer who
holds a practising certificate.

“Closed Group” means the Halding Entity and the Wholly-owned Entities;

“Control” has the same meaning as i accounting standard AASB 127 “Consclidated and
Separate Statements” (for reporting periods commiencing before | Jannary 2013) ox
accounting standard AASB 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements™ (for reporting periods
comumencing on or after 1 Januvary 2013).

“Deed of Cross Guarantee™ means the deed to which the Entity is a party which:

(1)

is in exactly the same terms as ASIC Pro Forma 24 except for the following:

{A) all instructions for the melusion of specified information have been replaced by
that information in a complete and accurate manner and any consequential
changes of a minor or editorial nature that are necessary for the effective
operation of the deed have been made;

(B) execution ”I‘LLIQES have been added as vequired in order to facilitate the proper

C(\UULLLLU}I o J. [IJ\J (.-wa!.l

{C) the date has been completed;
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(D) the headnote, the headings before the headnote and any editorial note have been
omiited;

(ia) in the case of a deed lodged with ASIC before 1 July 2004 — is substantally in the
g

form set out in ASIC Pro Forma 24 and which has been approved by ASIC under this
ordey;

(iaa)in the-case of a dzed lodged with ASIC on or after 1 July 2004 but before 31 March
2008—is in exactly the same tetms as ASIC Pro Forma 24 as at the date the deed was
lodged except for the matters set out in subparagraphs (1)(A) to (D);

(i1) has been approved for the purposes of a previous order; or

(1) is in the form required for the purposes of Class Order [CO 95/1530], has been
lodged with ASIC between 1 July 1998 and the date of this order, and has been

approved by ASIC for the purposes of this order or Class Order [CO 95/1530] (even
if the Entity never obtains relief under Class Order [CC 95/15307),

and inchides such a deed as varied by:
(tv) an Assumption Deed contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee and either:

(A) Todged with ASIC together with a certificate velating to that Deed, where that
certificate conforms with the definition of Certificate as it appearad in this ovder
at the time that the Deed was lodged;

« (B} where the Assumption Deed is loaged with ASIC before 1 July 2004 —
approved by ASIC;

(v} aRevocation Deed contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guaraniee;

“Exempt Butity” means a company which is not controlled by 2 foreign company and
which is:

(a) asmall proprietary company; or
{(b) alarge propxictary company which:

(i) satisfied all of the requirements of s319(4) of the Corporations Law (as taken to
be included in the Act by $1408(2) of the Act), or would have satisfied all of
those requirements except that its financial statements or financial reports during
1993 or a later financial year were not andited before the deadline for reporting
to members for that year pursuant to relief obtained under this Class Order, Class
Order [CO 93/15307 or Class Order [CO 96/15797; and

(1) has not at any time during 1993 or a Jater financial year been 2 member of a
Closed Group for the purposes of this Class Order or Class Order [CO 95/1530]
where that Closed Group included a company which was not an Exempt Eutity:

“Extended Closed Group™ means the Closed Group and any other entities which are
parties to the Deed of Cross Guaraniee and which ate controlled by the Holding Entity;
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“Holding Entity” is a company, a disclosing entity which is a body corporate
incorporated or formed in Australia, or a registered foreign company:

(i) of which the Entity is oue of the Wholly-owned Euntities;

(ii) which is not controlled by another member of the Closed Group; and

(iii) which is a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee;

“previous order” means any one of ASIC Class Orders [CO 91/996] dated 19 December

1991, [CO 92/770] dated 20 July 1992, [CO 93/1370] dated 4 November, {CO 54/1862]

dated 13 December 1994, [CO 95/1530] dated 10 November 1595 or [CO 96/153] dated

12 March 1996; and

“Wholly-owned Entities” collectively mean companies and foreign companies;

() all of which are controlled by the Holding Entity:

(if) no member of any of which is a person other than the I-Tolding'Eutity, another one of
the Wholly-owned Briities, a notninee for the Holding Entity or a nominse for

another one of the Wholly-owned Entifies; and

(ii1) all of which are parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

Second order

And under subsection 341(1) of the Act ASIC relieves a company that is a Holding BEntity
for the purposes of the first order from the requirement to comply with subsections 295(2)
and (3} of the Act to the extent they would prevent:

{a) the inclusion of Consolidated Financial Statements (for the purposes of paragraph (f)
of the first order) where the consolidated group is not a reporting entity for the
purposes of accounting standards uader subsection 296(1) of the Act; or

(b) the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (within the meaning of the fivst
order) from including the mformation specified in paragraph (i) of the first order.

Revocations

Pursuant to subsection 341(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 (“the Act”), the Australian
Securities and nvestments Cominission hereby revokes Class Orders [CO 95/1530] dated
10 November 1995, [CO 96/153] dated 12 March 1996, {CO 96/805] dated 28 May 1596
and [CO 97/1018] dated 9 July 1997, with effect for financial years ending on or afier
1 Tuly 1998 {8 July 1998 wheye the Holding Eutity adopts Class Order [CO 98/0095]).

Fuderal Reaisier of Legisiative [osiraments F2313C00678

k™



Notes to ASIC Class Order [CO 98/1418]

Note 1
ASIC Class Ovder [CO 98/1418] (in force under s341(1) of the Corporations Act 2001) as

shown in this compilation comprises that Class Order ainended as indicated in the {ables
below.

Table of instruments

‘;/-1-1\‘

i

Tnstrument Date of makingor  Dateof Applieation, snving
number FRLI registration  commeneement or transitienal
’ provisions

[CO98/1418] 137871998 (sce 13871998
F2006B01644)

{CO 98/2017%] 3041001998 (see 307101998 -
F2006B00222)

[CO 00/321] 8/2/2000 (see - 8/2/2000 -
F20056B00269)

[CCQl/1087) 471072001 {see 41012001 -
F2006B01643)

[CO 02/248) 2372002 (see 114372002 -
F2006B01646)

[CO02/1017) 264742002 (sec 26772002 -
F2006B01654)

(CO 04/663] 22642004 (see 21/6/2004
F2006B01656)

{CO 04/6382] 14712004 (see 172004 -
(F2006B01657)

[CO 05/542] 204672005 (sce 204672005 -
F20051.01930) '

[CO 05/1270] 1671272005 (see /172005 -
F2011C00408)

(CO06/51) 31/1/2006 (see 314172006 -
F2006L.00292)

[CO08/11] 35/3/2008 (see 317372008 -
F20081.00956)

[CO 08/285] 16/6/2008 (sce 16/6/2008 .
F20081.02091)

[COC 08/618) 14762008 (see L4/8/2008 -
F2003L03055}) :

[CO 09/626) H/8/2009 (see 114872009 -
F2009L03131)

{CO 13/1051) 22/8/2013 (sce 22/3/2013 -

F20I3LO1614}

Note 2

ASIC Class Order [CO 05/1270] jucorporates by reference amendments set out in AS1C Class Order [CO 04/1624), A
copy of ASIC Ciass Orger [CO 04/1624) may be oblained fiom ASIC's website: hitp:/fwranv.asic.gov.aunlco.
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Fro Forma 24
Deed of cross guarantee

Class Order €O 98/1418] ~ Wholly-cwned entities

. 2677 T
This Deed of Cross Guarantes is made on A2, . Jefm £ 2012
between:

{1} The Group Entities {which are listed in Part 1 of the Schedule);
(2) The Trustee (which is named in Pat 2 of the Schedule); and

(3)  The Alternative Trustee (which is numed in Part 3 of the -
Schedule) {if applicable),

for the purpose of the Group Entities (excepl those indicated in Part |
of the Schedule 4s being ineligible) obtaining ihe benefit of the Class
" Qrder and witnesses as follows:

1 interpretation
N In this Deed:
“Act” means the Corporations Act 2001,

“ASIC” means the Australian Securities and Invesiments
Commission;

“Associale” has the meaning given by Division 2 of Part |2 of
the Act;

“Assumplion Deed” means a Deed executed pursuant to clause
5 by which a further Group Enlity or further Group Entities
may be joined to this Deed of Cross Guarantee;

“Certtficate” in relation {0 u Deed of Cross Guarantee or an
Assumption Deed, means one or more certificates in wriling
addressed to cach Group Entity or proposed Group Entity
covered by the Deed, the Trustee named in Part 2 of Schedule
and any Alternative Trustee named in Part 3 of the Schedule
and to ASIC which together include statemenis o the
foltowing effect:

(8) that the Deed:

(i) is in exactly the same terms as ASIC Pro Forma
24 or 27 as the case requires except for the
following:

(AY  all instrections for the inclusion of
specified information have been
ceplaced by that information in a
complete and aceuraie manner and any
consequential changes of a minor or
editorial nature that are necessary for the
effective operation of the deed have
been made;
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ASIC PaD Forua 24— DEED OF CROSS GUARAHTEE

(B}  execution clauses have been added,
deleted, modified or varied as required
in order to facilitate the proper
execution of the deed,;

(C)  the date has been completed;

(D)  the headnote, the headings before the
headnote and any editorial notes have
been omilted;

(B} in the case of an Assumption Deed
which covers more thun one proposed
Group Entity ~ such varjutions as are
necessary 1o enable the additional
emtities to be covered;

(F} in the case of an Assumption Deed
which covers making the trustee of the
Deed of Cross Guarantee (0 which the
Assumpiion Deed relates 2 member of
the Closed Group — such variations as
are necessary to enable the Assumption
Peed to have that effect;

(b) that, in relation to the execution of the Deed by each
parly o it that is a company, eithes:

(N the Deed appears to be signed in accordance
with subsection {27(1) of the Act; or

(i)  the company's common seal appears (o have
been fixed to the Deed, and the fixing of the seal
appears {0 have been witnessed, in accordance
with subgection 127(2) of the Act;

and lhe provider of the certificate does not know and
has ne reason (o suspeci that the Deed has not been
duly executed by the company;

" (ba)  (hat the provider of the certificate, after having made
such inquiries as were reasonabie in the circemslances,
is of the opinfon that the Deed has been duly executed
by each party io it that is not a company;

where:
{c) the certificales referred to in paragraphs (a), (b) and
{ba) are given by a lawyer who holds a practising
certificate;

“Class Order” means Class Order [CO 98/1418] made by
ASIC pursuant 1o subsection 341(1) of the Act;

Harch 2008
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ASIC Pro FoRMA 24— DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

owned Entities;

“company™ has the same meaning as in section 9 of the Act,

“Control” has the same meaning as that term has in accounting
standard AASB 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements™ :

“Creditor” means a person (whelher now ascertained or
ascertainabie or not) who is not a Group Entity and to whom
now or al any future time a Debt {whether now existing or not)
Is or may at any future time be or become payable;

“Debl” means any debt or claim which is now or at any future

. time admissible to proof in the winding up of a Group Entity

and no other claim;

“Group Bntity” means (until this Deed of Cross Guaranies
ceases to apply (o thal entity by viriue of z disposal under
clanse 4.2 or unil) that entity is seieased from this Deed of
Cross Guarantee by a Revocation Deed under clause 4.5

(a) any one of the entities listed in Part 1 of the Schedule;
and '

(b}  any entity joined to this Deed of Cross Guarantee by
the execution of an Assumption Deed;

“Holding Entity” means the Group Entity which controls each
of the other Group Entities and which is not conlrolled by
another Group Entity;

“lawyer” has the same meaning as in section 8 of the Act;

“Revocation Deed” means a Deed executed pursuant to clause
4.5 by virtue of which this Deed of Cross Guarantee ceases to

“apply to one or more of the Group Entities; and

“Wholly-owned Entitics” collectively mean companies and
foreign companies:

(a) all of which are contrelled by the Holding Entity,

{b)  nomember of any of which is a person other than the
Holding Entity, another one of the Wholly-owned
Entities, a nominee for the Holding Entity or a nominee
for another one of the Wholly-owned Entities; and

(¢)  all of which are parties to the Deed of Cross Guaranteg,

except that, when used in reference lo a “Group Entity sold”,
“Wholly-owned Entities” collectively mean companies and
foreign companies:

{a) all of which are controlled by the Group Entity soid;

{b) no member of any of which is a person other than the
Group Entity sold, another one of the Wholly-cwned
Entities, a nominee for the Group Entity sold or a

nomines for another one of the Wholiy-owned Entities;
an

March 2008
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ASIC PrRO FoRte 24— DEED OF CRDOSS GUARANTEE

(c) ali of which are purties to the Deed of Cross Guaraniee.

2 Operation of deed

2.1 This Deed of Cross Guarantee will be of no force and effect
untii the Holding Entity has submitted an original of this Deed
of Cross Guarantes for lodgment at ASIC together with an
original of a Certificate relating to this Deed.

3 Cross guaraniee

34 Subject to clause 3.4, cach Group Entity covenants with the
Trustee for the benefit of cach Creditor that the Group Entity
guarantees to each Creditor payment in full of any Debt in
accordance with this Deed of Cross Guarantee.

3.2 Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee that this Deed of
Cross Guarantee hecormes enfarceable in respect of the Debit of
a Group Entity {“the Group Entity™):

(a)  upon lbe winding up of the Group Entity under
subsection 45%A or paragraphs 46 1{1){a}, () or (j) of
the Act or as a creditors’ voluntary winding up under
Panrt 5.5 Division 3 of the Act; or

(b} in any olther case —— if six months after a resolution or
order for the winding up of the Group Entity any Debt
of a Creditor of the Group Entity has not been peid in
Full,

3.3 Subjectto clavse 3.4, the Trustee and each Group Entity
acknowledge that the Trustee holds (he benefit of the
covenants and commitmenis of euch Grouvp Entity made
pursuant (o this Deed upon (rust for each Creditor.

34 If an Alternative Trustee is named in Part 3 of the Schedule,
then: ’

{8} the Trustee covenants with the Alernative Trusiee as
trusice for (the benefii of each Creditor that the Trustee
guarantees 10 each Creditor payment in {full of any Debt
in accordance with this Deed of Cross Guaraniee; and

(by  for the purposes of this covenant the provisions of this
Deed of Cross Guarantee will apply 10 the Trustee as if
it was a Group Entity and was not the Trustee and to
the Alternative Trustee as if it was the Trustee,

4  Fevocation and releasa

4.1 This Deed of Cross Guarantee and the irusts constituizd by it

may not be revoked or rzieased except as expressly permitted
by this Deed.

4.2 if:

ttarch 2008
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a liquidalor, recelver, recejver and manager, coptroller,
or scheme manager or administrator of a company
under administration or of a deed of company
arrangement is appointed to or to the property of the
Group Entity or each of the Group Entities owning
shares in a Group Entity {lthe “"Group Entity sold”) and

- that Groug Entity or those Group Entities disposes (or

dispose) of all issued shares in the Group Entity sold
and the Group Entity sold lodges notice of that disposal
with ASTC (including details of any Group Entity

- which is & Wholly-owned Eniity of the Group Entily

soid); or

a morigagee or mottgagees (other than a Group Entity
or an Associate of any Group Entity) of shares owned
by a Group Entity or by Group Entities in another
Group Entity (the *Group Entity sold™) disposes (or
dispose) of all issued shares in the Group Entity sold
and the Group Entity sold lodges notice of that disposal
with ASIC (including details of any Group Entity
which is 2 Wholly-owned Entity of the Group Entity
sold); or

the Group Entity or Group Entities owning shares in a
Group Enlity (the “Group Entity sold™) disposes {(or
dispose) of all issued shares in the Group Entity sold
and:

(i)  ihe directors of the Holding Eatity upon
disposal certify in writing that the disposal is a
bona fide sale and that the consideration for the
sale is fair and reasonable; and

(it} acopy of that certificate is lodged by the
Haolding Entity, and by the Group Entity sold,
with ASIC; and

{(tify  the Group Entity sold lodges notice of that
disposal with ASIC (including details of uny
Group Entity which is a Wholiy-owned Entity
of the Group Entity sold),

then provided that the disposal is not to an Associate of any
Group Entity:

(d)

©)

this Deed of Cross Guarantee shall cease to apply to the
Group Entity sold and to any Group Eatity which is a
Wholly-owned Entity of the Group Entity sold; and

the Group Enlity sold and every Group Entity which is
a Wholly-owned Entity of the Group Entity sold will be
released from all iiability under this Deed of Cross
Guarantee inchading liability:

(i arising or aceruing prior 1o or afler such
disposal; or

tvigrch 2008
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ASIC Pro FoRiia 24— DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

(i) due to this Deed of Cross Guaranlee becoming
enforceable prior to or after such disposal
against the Group Entity sold or against a
Group Entity which is a Wholly-owned Entity
of the Group Entity sold; and ‘

H gach other Group Entity will be released from all
lizbility whatever under this Deed of Cross Guaranlee
in respect of any Debt of the Group Entity sold or in
respect of any Debt of a Group BEntity which is a
Wholly-owned Entity of the Group Entity sold
including liability:

{ in respect of any Debt arising or accruing
before or after such disposal; or

(ii)  due to this Deed of Cross Guarantee becoming
enforceable before or after such disposal against
the Group Entity or any Group Entity which is a
Wholty-owned Entity of the Group Entity sold;
and

(g} the trust constitnfed by ihis Deed shall be revoked in
respect of the covenanis made pursuant 1o this Deed of
Cross Guarantee;

! by the Group Entity sald; and

(i) by any Group Batity which is a Wholly-owned
Entity of the Group Entity sold.

A disposal under clause 4.2 may be effected even ift

{2} this Deed of Cross Guarantee has become enforceable
in respect of a Group Entity; or

(b} the winding up as mcationed in clause 3.2 of any
Group Entity has commenced.

Any of the Group Entities or the Group Entity sold may upen
payment of the reasonable costs of the Trustee require the
Trustee o execute a Deed containing a release by the Trustee:

(ay  ofthe Group Entity sold and every Group Entity which
is 2 Wholly-owned Entity of the Group Entity sold in

terms similar (o paragraph 4.2(e) of this Deed of Cross
Guarantee; and

(5 of each other Graup Entity in tcrms similar Lo
paragraph 4.2(%) of this Deed of Cross Guarantee,

The Group Entities which are from time to {ime parties to this
Deed of Cross Guarantee may revoke this Deed of Cross
Guarantee in respect of any Group Entity or all Group Entities
by all executing a Revocation Deed the effect of which wiil be
conditional upen:

(a) the Holding Entity lodging an original of thai
Revozatiag Dreed with A81C; and

March 2008
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each Group Entity giving notice o its Creditors of the
Revocation Deed by public advertisement (which may
be a joinl adverlisement by two or more Group
Entities) made at any time before or within one month
after the date on which the original of the Revocation
Deed is todged with ASIC in a daily newspaper
circulating in each state and territory in which any
Creditor of the Group Entity is located; and

there being no winding up 2s mentioned in paragraph
3.2(a) of any Group Entity being either:

(i) a winding up within six months after the
original of the Revocation Deed is lodged with
ASIC; or

(if)  awinding up the commencement of which
occurs within six months after (he original of
the Revocation Deed is lodged with ASIC,

and upon satisfaction of those conditions:

(d)

(e)

any Group Entity in respect of which this Deed of
Cross Guarantee is revoked by that Revocation Deed
(the “Group Entily released”) will be released from all
liability whatever under this Deed of Cross Guaraniee
including liability:

(i) arising or accruing before or after:
{4}  execulion of the Revocation Peed; or
(B)  those conditions being satishied; or

(ii)  due to this Deed of Cross Guarantee becoming
enforceable against the Group Entity released
before or after:

{A) execulion of the Revacalion Deed; or
(B) those condilions being satisfied; and

each other Group Entity will be reledsed from ali
liability under this Deed of Cross Guaraniee in respect
of any Debt of the Group Entity released including
liability:

6] in respect of any Debt arising or accruing
before or after:
(A} execution of the Revocation Deed; or
(B} -those conditions being satisfied; or

(ii) due to this Deed of Cross Guarantee becoming
enforceable against the Group Entity before or
after:

(A)  =xecution of the Revocation Deed; or

(B) those conditions belng satisfied; and

tdarch 2008
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ASBIC PRO FoRMA 26— DEED OF CROSS GUARANIEE

) the trust constituted by this Deed of Cross Guarantee
shall be revoked in respect of Lhe covenants of each
Group Entity released.

A Revocation Deed under clause 4.5 may be executed even if?

(a) this Deed of Cross Guarantee has become enforceable
in respect of a Group Entity; or

(b}  the winding up of a Group Entity has commenced.

The Group Entities may upon payment of the reasonable costs
of the Truslee require the Trustee (o be a party to 2 Revocation
Deed and if so required the Trustee must execute the

Revocation Deed which shall contain a release by the Trustee:

{a) of the Group Entity released in terms similar to
paragraph 4.5(d} of this-Deed of Cross Guaraniee; and

(b)  of the other Group Eatities in terms similar to
paragraph 4.5(e) of this Deed of Cross Guarantee.

Assumpiion dead

The Holding Entity may by executing an Assumption Deed to
which the Trustec and any forther controlled entity or
controlled entities of the Holding Entity eligible for the benefit
of the Class Order are party join a further Group Entiiy or
further Group Entities to this Deed.

An Assumption Deed will be of no force and effect unii) the
Holding Entity has submitted an original of the Assumption
Deed for lodgment at ASIC together with an original of a
Ceriificate relating to that Deed,

Any further Group Entity so added by an Assumption Deed
vill be {aken to have assumed lisbility under this Deed of
Cross Guarantee as if that Group Entity had execuied this Decd
of Cross Guarantee. ‘

Deed poll

As a separdte covenant by way of Deed Poll each Group Entily
agrees with each Creditor that the Group Entity will guaranlee
o each Creditor payment of any Debt due io the Creditor from
any other Group Entity in accordance with this Deed of Cross
CGuarantee.

Trustee and aiternative rustee

The only obligations of the trustes (including the Altemative
Trustee if applicable in respect of the Trastee where the
Trusiee is the Holding Entity or a Group Entity) ure:

(a) to act as bare Trustee for the benefit of each Creditor of
the Covenants of each Group Entily contained in this

™o 4 .8 T i PR
Deed of Cross il anines,
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ASIKS Pro FORMA 24— DEE0 OF CROSS GUARANTEE

(b}  upon request {o assign to any Creditor the benefit of
this Deed of Cross Guarantee in so far as it benefits that
Creditor (such assignment to be at the cost of the
Creditor who must fully indemnify the Trusiee);

() to permit its name to be used in any demand or notice
made or given by or fegal proceedings brought by any
Creditor seeking to enforce the benefit of this Deed of
Cross Guarantee (but the Creditor must fully indemnify
the Trustee and provide the Trustze with any
reasonable security for costs which the Trustee may
require);

(dy  upon request 1o lodge in its name on behalf of any
Creditor or Creditors a proof of debt in the winding up
of a Group Entity of a claim under this Deed of Cross
Guarantee (such proof to be at the cost of the Creditor

or Creditors whao must fully indemnify the Trustee);
and

{e) o execute a release pursuant to clause 4.4 or 4.7 when
required 1o do so.

The Trustee has no duty to suparvise or monitor any Group
Entiy or to claim or pursue any Debl or (except as provided in
clanse 7.1) to enforce this Deed of Cross Guarantee.,

The Trustec must execute a release pursuant (o clause 4.4 or
clause 4.7 when required 10 do so and the Trustee has no duty
to inguire as to the propriety of any Deed of Revocation or of
any disposal of shares in a Group Entity.

The Trustee is entitled to full indemnity from any Credisor for
anything done by lhe Trustee al the request of the Creditor.

The Trustee may ratire and appoint a new Tiustee,

General

Execution of this Deed of Cross Guarantee is not Lo bar any
person or company from disposing of any share in a Group
Entity and is not to bar any Group Entity from excculing &
Revocation Deed at any time and does not amount 10 a
representation by or agreement of any person or any Group
Entity to or with any Creditor or other person that this Deed of

Cross Guarantee may not be revoked as provided for in its
{efitls,

This Deed of Cross Guarantee shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of Victoria and each
party (0 this Deed of Cross Guarantee agrees to submit o the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Courls of Victoria.

Watver

Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for the benefil of

March 2008
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each Creditor that: .
(a}  no Group Entity shall be entitled to:

(1) the beaefit of any security or securities now or
in future held or taken or otherwise acquired by
a Creditor from a Group Entity;

() the benefit of any dividend, composition or
payment received by any Creditor from any
Group Entity under any such security or
securities; or :

(i) prove for or claim, demand or receive any such
dividend, composition or payment,

(b  Tfany security given or payment made to a Creditor by
a Group Bntity or by any other person is avoided or
reduced by vistue of any Jaw relating 1o liquidalion, the
Creditor shall then be entitled 10 recover the value or
amount of any such securily or payment from each
Group Entity despite any prior setllement, discharge or
release batween the Creditor and any Group Entity.

Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for the benefit of
each Creditor that no Credilar is under any obligalion to:

(a)"  give notice (o any Group Entity of any amendment of
any agreecment giving rise to a Debt or of any breach of
any such agreement; or

(b)  enforce this Guarantee against all of the Group Entities
but may in its absolute discretion at any time and from
time 1o time proceed against any or all of them,

Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for the benefit of
each Creditor that the liability of each Group Entity shall not

.be affected by any one or more of the following (whether or

not done or occurring by or with the consent of the Creditor ar
with the knowledge or consent of any Group Entity):

{(a) any collateral rights or obligations which may exist
berween any Group Bntities;

(b}  any variation or avoldance of any such collateral rights
or obligations;

{¢)  any other person becoming a guarantor of a Group
Entity's obligations and liabilities;

() any other person intended to be bound as a surety in
respect of a Group Entity's obligations and liabilities
not bzing or becoming so bound;

(e) any other Group Entity being released from or ceasing
(o be bound by this Deed of Cross Guarant(es;

H the giving of any refease or waiver by any Creditor 1o
any Group Entity;

Masch 2008
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the making of any arrangement or compromise by uny
Creditor with any of the Group Entitics;

delay or failure by any Creditor (0 enforce this Deed of
Cross Guarantee;

liquidation of any Group Entity or of any surety of a
Group Entity;

ihe giving of any security by any Group Entiy; or

where a Group Entity is a member of any partnership,
any change in the membership of such partnership.

Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for the benefit of
cach Creditor that without the consent of any Group Entity
each Creditor may at any time and from time to time without

affecting the liability of any Group Entity under this Deed of
Cross Guaraniee:

(a)
(b)

{c)

(&

(e)

grant to the Group Entity which is the principal debtor
any indulgence or consideration;

compound with or release the Group Entily which is
the principal debtor;

assent to any assignment {0 trustees for the benefit of
Creditors under any scheme ar deed of arrangement of
the Group Entity which is the principal debtor whelther
with or without the winding up of the Group Entity
which is the principa! debtor;

assent Lo the appointment of a receiver, controller or
administrator of a company onder administration or a
dezd of company arrangement of the Group Entity
which is the principal debtor; or

release or discharge or otherwise dea) with any
propeily whether regl or personal comprised in any
security held from the Group Entity which is the
piincipal debior.

Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for Lhe benefit of
each Creditor that:

(a)

no failure or delay of a Creditor 10 exercise any righl
given to it under this Deed of Cross Guarantes, or @
insist on strict compliance by the Group Enlity which is
the principal debtor or any other Group Entity with any
obligation in respect of any Debt or uader this Deed of
Cross Guarantee, and ro custom or practics of the
Creditor or the Group Entitles at variance with the
terms of this Deed of Cross Guarantee, will constilute a
walver or variation of each Creditor's right to'demand

exact compliance with the terms of this Deed of Cross
Guaraniee; '

March 2008
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ASIC PrO FORMA 24— DEED OF GROSS GUARANTER

by  anydelay or omission of any Creditor to exercise any
right arising from a breach of any obligation by a
Group Entity will nat affect or prejudice any Creditor's
rights arising from such breach, or any subsequent
breach, or the continvance of any breach; and

{c) waiver by any Creditor of any patticular breach by any
Group Entity will not affect or prejudice any Creditor's
rights in respect of any subsequent breach of the same
or of a different nature.

9.6  Each Group Entity agrees with the Trustee for the benefit of
each Creditor that:

{a) all benefits, composilions and payments received by
any Creditor frorm or on account of any Group Enlity,
including any dividends upon the liguidation of the
Group Entity which is the principal debtor or of any
Graup Entity, or from any other person or from the
realisation or enforcement of any security, guaraniee or
indemnity capable of being applied by any Crediior tn
or towards satisfaction of a Debt, will be applied as
payeents in gross;

(b) no dividend or payment received by any Creditor in 4
liguidation of the Group Entity which is the principal
debtor shall prejudice or affect the vight of the Creditor
to recover the Debt from each Group Entity (o the full
cxtenl of this Deed of Cross Guarantee.

10 Varialions

10.1  The Group Entities and the Trustee may by executing another
deed vary this Deed of Cross Guarantee (o reflect any
amenginents of ASIC Pro Formu Deed of Cross Guurantee

{ASIC Pro Forma 24) that may be made by ASIC from time o
time.

SCHEDULE

Parties 10 this Deed of Cross Guaraniee

PART | — GROUP ENTITIES
(1 Holding Entily:
Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd  ACN 127 681 534
{2y Group Entities (other than the Holding Entity) which are as at

the dale of execution of the Daed eligible for the benefit of the
Class Order:

Warch 2008
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Allans Billy Hyde Stage Systems Pty Lid
AMG Shared Services iy Lid
Australian Muoasic Group Pty Lid
Ausiralian Music Pty Litd

Billy Hyde Imporis Pty £id

Bitly Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd

Billy Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Lid

Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Lid

Bitly Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Lt_d
Intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd

MLA Asset Services Ply Ltd

MLA Services Pty Lid

Music Link Australia Pty Td

Miasic Link Gwchestral Supplies Ply Lid
Musiclink Group Péy Lid

Tle Billy Hyde Group Pty Lid

ACN 159 148 222
ACN 117 052 936
ACN 127 926 434
ACH 125 097 561
ACN 102 430 704
ACN 118 409 466
ACN 110 657 719
ACN 125 873 752
ACN 116398371
ACN 121 611 970
ACN 006 539 $31
ACN 131 523 905
ACN 003 564 509
ACN 005 541 239
ACN 117 581 996
ACN 125 412 464
ACN 126 132 107

Group Batitics (other than the [olding Entity) which are as &
the date of execution of the Deed ineligible for the benefit of

the Class Order:
NOT APPLICABLE

PART 2 — TRUSTEE

Trustee:

Austratian Mustc Group Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 127 691 534

PART 3 — ALTERNATIVE TRUSTEE

Alternative tistee:

Australian Musie Group Pty Ltd

ACH 127 926 434

March 2008
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| | EXECUTED AS A DEED

Executed by Australian Music Group
Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 127 691 534 in
accordance with section 127(1) of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

Name {please prin)

1

Signature of director or company secretary
*defere whichever dozs not apply

Name (please print)

Exccuted by Allans Billy Hyde Stage Systems
Piy Ltd ACN 159 148 222 in accordance with
section §27(1} of the Corporations Act 2007
{Crh}):

Signature of director or coimpany secrelary®
*delete whichever dees not upply

S ir/?/r'.f.-om

Name (please prin) - Name {please pring

warch 2008
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Executed by AMG Shared Services Pty Lid
ACN 117 052 936 in accordance with

section 127(1) of the Corporations Act 2001
{(Cth):

ignature of director

Name (please print)

Execufed by Australian Music Group Pty Ltd
ACN 127 926 434 in accordance with '
section 127(1) of the Corparations Act 2001
{Cth)

Nams (please prinl)

Executed by Australian Musie Pty Lid ACN
125 007 561 in accordance with section 127(1)
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

~_ 7

Signaiure of direcior

To Y MHEE

Name {please pring}

Signature of director or company secretary®

“delels whichever does notapply

Name (joase prine)

Signature of director or company secretary™
*deleie whichieyer docs noy apply

*/\//\,‘ - 5‘/2.4'2. L)

Name {piease prini)

Signature of director or company secretary™
“dejete whichever.does not spply

./3.';,.14;1‘&9“‘

Name (piease prinl)

warch 2003
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Executed by Billy Hyde Imports Pty Lid ACN
102 430 704 in accordance with section 127(1)

of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

Signature of director

Name (please prisy)

Executed by Billy Hyde Masic Adelaide Pty
Lid ACN 118 409 4686 in accordance with
section 127(1) of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth)

..................................................................

Name (plesse priny

Exccuted by Billy Hyde Music Brisbane Pty
Ltd ACN $10 657 719 in accordance with
section 127(1} of the C.orpomnons Act 2001

(Cth):
<7

Ty s

[//Slgnatu'e of dlrector

e ot

Q7

Name (pleass pring

Signature of director or company secratary®
“delete whichever does not 2pply

Name {p[casc pnnl]

Signature of director or company secretary®
*delsie whichever dacs notapply -

Mame (please pring)

B T T T -
Signature of director or company secretary®
*defeie whichaver does aet apply

MName {plcase poant}

March 2008
Page 16



I,

Page 19 of 25 Docld: 026104171 ACN 1127601 534

ASIC Pro Forida 24— DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

Executed by Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty
Ltd ACN 125 873 752 in accordance with
section 127(1} of the Corporations Act 2001

{Cth}).
Signature of director Signature of director or company sceretary™
*dalete whichever does nol apply

Name (pleass pAnt) Name (pleose pein)

Exeeuted by Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Led
ACHN 116 398 371 in accordance with

section 127(1) of the Corporarions Act 2001
(Cth):

ignature of director

Signature of director or company seeretary™
*dlelete whichover does not apply

Tolen HELAE AA/ = ﬂ At eang

Name {please priny) Name (please print}

Executed by Billy Hyde Music Sunshine
Const Pty Lid ACN 121 011 970 in accordance
with section 127{1} of the Corporarions Act
2001 (Cih):

—

Signature of director Signature of direclor or company secretary®
tdelete whichever docs nol apoly

TorV MHELAE /’1—7 o !/Zi-g Lot

—tn,

1

......................................................................

Name (please pring) Name (please print

NMareh 2008
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ASIC PR0 FoRi4a 24~ DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

Executed by Intermusic Distrbution Pty Lid
ACN 006 539 831 in accordancs with
section 127(1} of the Corporations Act 200/

(Cth:

' 781gnaturc of d1reclor

Name (please pring)

Exccated by MLA Asset Sexvices Pty Lid
ACN 131 523 905 in accordance with
section {27(1) of the Corporarions Act 2004
{Cth):

T LR P PP PP TP SR

Slgnamre of d1rector

Name (please priny)

Executed by MELA Services Ply Ltd ACN 005
564 509 in accordance with section 127(1) af the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

ﬁa/;

Signature of d1recto;

To ks ‘ f{'a:)r/.)f;

Name {please pring

A

Cemdabaaraa LT R P PP

Signature of director or company secretary™
*Jelele whichever does not apply

Marme {please prin

Slgnature of director or company secrelary*
*detele whichever docs not apply

.............. ;Lﬂﬁf—z@u

Name (please print)

----------------------------------------------- R I TP

Signature of director or company secretary®
*delore whichever dozs not spply

Name (ptease print

March 2008
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Executed by Music Link Australia Pty Ltd
ACM 005 541 230 in accordance witly -
section 127(1) of the Corporations &cr 2004
{Cih):

Name please priny

Executed by Musie Link Orchestral Supplies
Piy Lte ACN 117 581 996 in accordance with
‘section 127(1) of the Corporaiions Acr 200!
{Crh);

Name {please pring

" Execuled by Musiclink Group Pty Ltd ACN
125 412 464 in accordance with section 127(1)
of the Corporations Act 2007 (Crh);

Signature of director

MName ¢piease print)

Signature of director or company secretary® -
“*delete whichever does not apply

Name {plense print)

Signuture of direcior or company secrelary™
*defele whichever does nol apply

........... B b ANk e kA AT R A anl AT Faane i mrpan

Name (plesse print)

Signature of director or company secretary™
*delzw whichover does not apply

/ ‘
HE o {l _fl-*i::ﬂﬁ“.

4

Name (please print

March 2008
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Executed by The Billy Hyde Group Pty Lid
ACN 126 132 |47 in accordance with
section {27(1) of the Corporations Act 2001
{Crh): '

Signature of director or company secretary*
. *delete whichever goss not apply

Name (pleass ping) Marme (please print

March 2008
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L

Solicitor’s Certificate

To:

the Holding Entity {and Trustee)

Ausiralian Music Group Holdings F_‘ty Lid ACN 127 621 534
and

the Group Entities

Allans Billy Hyde Stage Systems Ply Lid ACN 159 148 222
AMG Shared Services Ply Ltd ACN 117 052 935

. Australian Music Group Py Lid ACN 127 328 434

Austratian Music Pty Lid ACN 125 007 561

Billy Hyde Imporis Pty Lid ACN 102 430 704

Bifty Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd ACN 118 409 466

Biii'y Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Ltd ACN 10 657 719

Bilty Hyde Music Gold Coast Ply Ltd ACN 125 873 752
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Lid ACN 116 388 371

Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd ACN 121 011 870
Intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd ACN 008 536 831

MLA Asset Services Pty Ltd ACN 131 523 985

MLA Services Ply Lid ACN 0G5 564 509

Music Link Australia Piy Lid ACN 005 541 239

Music Link Orcheslial Supplies Pty Lid ACN 117 581 908
fiusiclinic Group Pty Lid ACN 125 412 464

The Billy Hyde Group Pty Lid ACN 126 132 107

and

the Alternative Truslee

Ausirafian Music Group Ply Lid ACN 127 928 434

and

the Australia Securities and Investments Commission,

{, Chris Nikou, of Middielons, Level 25, 525 Colins Sireet, tMelbeourns, Vicloria, 3000, ceriily as
iollows:

tiiddoecs 3115338v3 REEL
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2

1. That the Deed of Cross Guaranies executed by Ausiralian Music Group Holdings Py Lid and
gach of the Group Entities listed above on 26 June 2012 (Beed) is in exactly the same terms
as ASIC Pro Forma 24-Deed of cross guarantes, except for the following:

{a) all instructions for the inclusion of specified information have been replaced by that
information in & complete and accurate manner and any consequential changes of a
minor or editerial nature that are necessary for the effective operation of the Deed
have been made;

(b  execution clauses have been added, deleted, modified or varied as required in arder
to faciiitate the proper execution of the Deed;

(<) the date has been completed; and

(d}. the headnote, the headings before the headnote and any editorial nole have been
ornitied.
2. That, in relation to the execution of the Deed by each parly to it thatis a company, the Deed
appears to be signed in accordance with subsection 127(1) of the Corporations Act 2001
{Cth) and | have no knowledge and reason to suspect that the Deed has not been duly
execulaed by the company,

3. That, after having made such inquiries as were reasonable in the ¢ircumstances, | am of the
opinian that the Deed has been duly executed by each party to it that is not a company.
™
Dated the 27 dayof Yo 2012
Signed by _ )
in the presence of: )
W ................................................ Witness
J’:chmzb{e”f"”f@t Name of Witness (prinl) <% .7~ Lo e

Middoes 5115338v3 REEL



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX: 259 Melbourne
Preparad by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 0258 3866
Lawyers Ref: MOTH:MJER:E05T887
Collins Square, Towar Two Aftention: Marelda Hibbard
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Meibourna, Victoria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-6" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Bafiore me:
/ BABELLA KESARA PIERR
s S8 Colling 51, Melbourna 0
Signature of n taking affidavit An Australian legal practitici:
within the meaning of the Lisy
/;2"3;‘1 4‘;7 Frodossion Uniform Liaw ¢
Ross Andrew Eléi:'é:; 7
= - (11 n
Exhibit "RAB-6

Copy of the Report to creditors dated 8 July 2021
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8 july 2021

Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 127 691 534 (“AMGH”")
Australian Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 127 926 434 {"AMG")
Australian Music Pty Ltd ACN 125 007 561 (“AMPL")
AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd ACN 117 052 936
The Bilty Hyde Group Pty 1td ACN 126 132 107
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd ACN 125 412 464
Billy Hyde Imports Pty Ltd ACN 102 430 704
Music Link Orchestral Supplies Pty Ltd ACN 117 581 996
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd ACN 005 541 239
intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd ACN 006 539 831
Billy Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Ltd ACN 110 657 718
Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd ACN 125 873 752
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 116 398 371
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd ACN 118 409 466
MLA Asset Services Pty Ltd ACN 131 523 905
Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd ACN 121 011 970
MLA Services Pty Ltd ACN 005 564 509
{All Receivers and Managers Appointed} (All In Liquidation)
Formerly trading as “Allans Billy Hyde”
{Collectively referred to herein as "the Companies”)

Circular to Creditors

Creditors are advised that a Report to Creditors {“Report”) for the Companies and Remuneration
Approval Reports for AMGH, AMG and AMPL have been issued.

The purpose of the Report is to provide an update to creditors on the progress of the liquidations of
the Companies since the Liquidator’s last report, advise creditors of an upcoming court application
regarding the aflocation of funds between Group entities from the insolvent trading recovery and
provide notice of my intention to apply to the court for approval of remuneration for AMGH, AMG
and AMPL.

The following documeants are available for download from the Liquidator’s firm’s website
https://www.fticonsulting.com/creditors:

= Liquidator's Report;
= Respective Remuneration Approval Reports; and

Draft copy of the Liguidator’s application and supporting affidavit {(excluding exhibits). Sealed
copies of the applicaticn and the affidavit will be uploaded, in due course,

Creditors who are unable to directly access and download the documents can request that a copy of
any of the above documents be mailed to them by emailing AMGcreditors@fticonsulting.com, or by
telephoning this office on (03} 9604 0600.

Should you have any queries please contact George Tansley of this office at the contact details
above.

Yours faithfully
-2

P

Ross Blakele
Liquidator

Tl Cansulticg [Austratio) Py Limited
ABN 49 160 397 811 | ACN 160 387 811
Level 21, Bourke Place | 600 Bourke Street | Melbourne VIC 3000 | Australia
Postal Address | GPD Box 538 | Melbourne VIC 3001 | Australia
+61 3 604 0600 telephone | +61 3 9604 0658 fax | fticonsulting.com
Lighitity fimited by a scheme approved under Prefessiondl Standards Legistation.



Repori to Creditors

8 July 2021

== Auystralian Music Group
Holdings & Associated

Companies
(All In Liquidation)

Report to Creditors

EXPERTS WITH IMPACT™ ﬁ F T I
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Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 127 691 534 {("AMGH"}
AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd ACN 117 052 936 {“AMGSS"}
Australian Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 127 926 434 {"AMG"})

Australian Music Pty Ltd ACN 125 007 561 ("AMPL")
Billy Hyde imports Pty Ltd ACN 102 430 704
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd ACN 118 409 466
Billy Hyde Music Brishane Pty Ltd ACN 110 657 719
Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd ACN 125 873 752
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 116 398 371
Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd ACN 121 011 970
Intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd ACN 006 539 831
MLA Asset Services Pty Ltd ACN 131 523 905
MLA Services Pty Ltd ACN 005 564 509
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd ACN 005 541 239
Music Link Orchestral Supplies Pty Ltd ACN 117 581 996
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd ACN 125 412 464
The Billy Hyde Group Pty Ltd ACN 126 132 107
{All in Liguidation}
{Collectively “the Group” or “Companies”}
Formerly trading as “Allans Billy Hyde”

| refer to my update to Creditors dated 20 April 2018. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to
creditors on the progress of the Liquidations of the Companies since my last report, advise creditors of an
upcoming court application regarding the allocation of funds between Group entities from a recent recovery
and provide notice of my intention to apply to the court for approval of remuneration as stipulated in Form
16 attached.

Recent Actions and Current Status of the Liquidations

Creditors will nate from my prior update that all matters relating to the pursuit of voidable transactions had
been resolved and that 1 was considering whether formal proceedings for a trading whilst insclvent action
would be brought against the directors of the Group (“Directors”}. Formal proceedings were subsequentiy
commenced, with a settlement of $500,000 being reached at a court ordered mediation, which is discussed
in further detail below.

The cash at bank balances in relation to each entity within the Group is set out in the helow table:
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Table 1: Cash at Bank Balance§

Proposed
allocation of
Cash at Bank 30 litigation Cash at Bank

Entity June 2021 Proceeds after allocation

Australian Music Group Holgings Pty Ltd 272.1 14,355.0 14,627.1
AMG Shared Servicas Pty Ltd 712,335.1 71,6495 783,584.6
Australian Music Group Pty Ltd 0.0 268,327.4 268,327.4
Australian Music Pty Ltd 1,125,503.9 133,319.1 1,258,823.0
Bifly Hyde Imports Pty Ltd 1,687.0 .0 1,687.0
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd 61.5 98.1 159.5
Billy Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Ltd 1,557.8 0.0 1,557.8
Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd 289.9 2.8 2927
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd 339.6 s47.4 886.9
Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd 393.% 0.0 393.9
Intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd 0.0 588.1 588.1
MLA Asset Services Pty Lid 0.0 0.0 0.0
MLA Services Pty Ltd 178.6 7,442.9 7,621.5
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd 1,238.0 2,473.4 3,771.4
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd 0.0 635.7 635.7
Musiclink Orchastral Supplies Pty Ltd 0.0 252.2 252.2
The Billy Hyde Group Py Ltd 1,545.0 308.5 1,853.5
Total 1,845,462.4 500,000.0 2,345,462.4

No further recoveries are expected in the respective liquidations which are now positioned to be finalised.
This has necessitated the folfowing:

g Consideration as to how the funds from the trading whilst insolvent action should be aliocated across
the relevant Group entities;

B Further consideration of the Deed of Cross Guarantee dated 26 June 2012 (“Cross Deed”) and what
impact it may have on pricrity and unsecured distributions; and

Reviewing creditor claims and, in particular, proofs of debt received with a view to efficiently deal with
creditor claims in entities in which there may be a dividend.

The above matters are elaborated on below.

1. Insolvent Trading

Creditors will recall that the Liquidator identified a potential claim against the Directors of the Group for
trading whilst insolvent in contravention of section 588G of the Corporations Act 2001 (“Act”).

The Liquidator subsequently commenced an insolvent trading claim in the Supreme Court of Victoria
(“Court™) against the Directors. Significant work was necessary to prepare the claim for Court, incluging:

& Filing a Statement of Claim with the Court;
o Filing an affidavit with the Court initiating proceedings;

reparing & Solvency Repori;

)
o
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si Attending to pre-discovery and publicly examining the Directors; and

= Attending a judicial mediation with the Directors.

At a judicial mediation held on 2 December 2019, a settlement was reached with the Directors pursuant to
which the Directors were required to pay an amount of $500,000 (“Proceeds”). Payment of the settlement
sum was received on 16 March 2020.

The Liquidator considered that agreeing to the settlement represented the best outcome for creditors, as it:

= had regard to the Directors’ financial capacity to meet a claim noting there was uncertainty to recover
payment from the Directors in full;

o was timely; and

= provided certainty of outcome and return.

1. Application for Distribution of Funds

The proceeds were paid into the bank account of AMPL. Given that the claims made in the insolvent trading
proceeding are in respect of debts incurred by entities of the Group, the Liquidator has had to consider the
basis on which the Proceeds ought to be distributed amongst the Group Companies.

The Liguidator considers the appropriate method by which the Proceeds shouid be distributed is in
proportion to each amount of the claim (debts incurred) for insolvent trading made in respect of each of the
Companies (“Proportionate Method”). It is necessary for the Liquidator to seek orders of the court that the
Proceeds be allocated in this way. The application te the court, inciuding all exhibits, is a substantial
document running to many pages. Therefore, in order to save printing and posting costs, the ful application
is available for download on FTI Consulting’s creditor portal at http://www fticonsulting-asia.com/creditors.
Should you require a printed copy of the application, please contact this office on {03) 9604 0600 or via
email at AMGcreditors@fticonsulting.com

it is the Liquidator’s view that the Proportionate Method is the most logical, just and efficient process for
distribution of the Proceeds. The distribution under this method corresponds to the debts incurred by each
of the Companies in the Group and is accordingly equivaient to the loss and damage incurred by their
respective creditors. The allocation that would result from the Proportionate Method is estimated as
follows:

Table 2: Proportionate Method Distribution

Percentage of craditors

included in Insolvent Trading Proceeds allocation
Company Claim amount
AMGSS 14.3% 71,649.53
AMPL 26.7% 133,319.13
AMGH 2.9% 14,355.00
AMG 53.7% 268,327.38
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd 0.0% 98.06
Billy Hyde Music Golg Coast Pty Lud 2.0% 1.8

W E.T b
CONSULTING
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Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd 0.1% 547.37
Intermusic Distribution Pty Ltd 0.1% 588.06
MLA Services Pty Ltd 1.5% 7,442.88
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd 0.5% 2,473.40
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd 0.1% 635.74
Musiclink Orchestral Supplies Pty Ltd 0.1% 252.1%
The Billy Byde Group Pty Ltd 0.1% 308.53
Total 100.0% 500,000.00

The Liquidator has had regard to twe other possible methods of distribution:

=] the amount will be allocated proportionally but adjusted according to the strength or weakness of
each of the claims comnprising each Company making up the Group's claim for insclvent trading {“Risk
Adjusted Method”) {i.e. analyse the strength and/or weakness for the prospects of each debt); and

= the Proceeds will be distributed equally between the Companies (i.e. split equally between the 17
Companies of the Group) (“Even Method”).

The Risk Adjusted Method is impracticat in that it is difficult and potentially costly to differentiate the
strength and/or weakness for the prospects of success of each debt given:

=] the activities of the Group were intertwined;
B the debts were incurred over a significant pericd of time;
=3 the large number of trading debts incurred; and

] that the Cross Deed results in all the Group Companies incurring the contingent debts of each other
and therefore the strength of the claim at least in respect of mathematical insolvency of the Group
Companies being equal in each case.

If the Even Method is applied, some entities will have a surptus after the payment of debts, and that surplus
may then be distributed back to the other entities in the Group as a result of the Cross Deed. This method
wilt have implications for AMGSS in that it is likely employees will receive less than they would under the
Proportionate Method. Further, this method is inherently unfair in that the distribution does not reflect the
loss and damage of the claim for insolvent trading suffered by each entity, which is in proportion to the
debts incurred rather than even.

Accordingly, the Liguidator does not consider either the Risk Adjusted Method or Even Method an
appropriate way to deal with the Proceeds and therefore intends to seek an order of the court that the
Liquidator is justified in allocating the Proceeds in accordance with the Proportionate Method. The Proceeds
would be allocated in proportion to the amount of the claim {debts incurred) of the insolvent trading
proceeding made by each of the Companies comprising the Group.

If you wish to object to the Proceeds being allocated in accordance with the Proportionate Method
described above, you must, within 21 days of the date of this Report, serve on the Liquidator, a notice of
objection stating the grounds of your objection. The Liguidator will then file an affidavit outlining the
grounds of any objection(s} received.
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2. Pooling

In considering the most logical, just and efficient process of distributing the Proceeds, the Liquidator also
considered whether a pooling order would be appropriate in the circumstances.

The effect of a pooling order generally is that each company in the group becomes jointly and severally liable
for the debts payable by the other companies and &l intra-group debts and claims are extinguished (the 17
Companies in the Group effectively become one Company).

The court will only make a pooling order where:

2] it is satisfied that it would be “just and equitable” to do so; and

| there would be no “material disadvantage” to eligible unsecured creditors in making such an order.

The Liquidator has analysed the estimated returns to creditors in a pooling scenaric as highlighted in the
table below. For illustrative purposes the Group is spiit into two subgroups as foilows:

@ AMGSS — this represents the employing company where all priority creditor claims exist; and

& Other entities — this is the sum of ali other liquidations within the Group. This demonstrates the
anticipated return to unsecured creditors.

Table 3: Pooling Analysis

Cents / $ Pooling No Pooling
AMGSS Other Entities AMGSS Cther Entities
Priority Creditor Ciaims
Wages & Superannuation 100.00 - 65.40 -
Leave Entitlements 33.90 - - -
Termination - - - -

Unsecured Creditor Claims

Unsecured Creditors - - - 3.19

The Liquidator’s assessment is that without a pooling order, the eligible unsecured creditors are estimated
to receive between 3 to 4 cents in the dellar. Conversely, in a pooling scenario, eligible unsecured creditors
of each of the Companies in the Group would stand to receive no return in the liquidations. This is because
in a pooling scenario, eligible priority creditors would have priority over all Group funds compared to
ordinary unsecured creditors, not just those funds held in the liquidation of AMGSS. Thus, a pooling order is
unlikely to be approved by the Court as ordinary unsecured creditors of the “other entities” will suffer a
material disadvantage.

Therefore, the Liguidator does not intend to seek a pooling order.

W E.LIL D
CONSULTING
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3. Cross Deed

Each of the Companies comprising the Group are subject to ASIC Class Order number 98/1418 (“Class
Order”), which is supported by the Cross Deed. The Cross Deed makes each Group entity liable for each
creditor of all other Group entities. The Liquidator understands the following in respect of the Cross Deed:

B the priority rules in the context of employee entitlements continue 1o apply to each Company
individually and employees rank egually with other unsecured creditors for any deficiency in the
liguidation of other Group entities (to the extent a deficiency exisis); and

by reason of the Cross Deed, creditors of one Company in the Group become creditors of all in the
Group, aibeit as “guarantee creditors”. There is no distinction between direct unsecured creditors of a
particular Group entity and unsecured creditors of other entities within the Group - all unsecured
creditors will rank equaily.

& ]

Practically speaking, what this means for creditors is as follows:

5! as all employees were creditors of AMGSS, the assets of AMGSS are first available for the benefit of
those employee creditors. Those employee creditors then prove equally with unsecured creditors in
the liquidations of the remaining Group entities for any deficiency; and

& the assets of the remaining Group entities are, in essence, pocled and available for distribution te the
unsecured creditors of the Group equally, together with the employee creditors of AMGSS 1o the
extent there is a deficiency.

The above is discussed further in the context of the estimated return to creditors in Section 5.

4. Liquidator’s Remuneration

The following summarises the Liquidator’s outstanding and future remuneration:

Table 4: Liguidator’s Remuneration Claim

Amount {Excl GST)
{$)

Period Company

Historical Remuneration

25 June 2019 to 30 June 2021 {inclusive) AMPL 175,583.55
19 April 2017 to 30 June 2021 {inclusive) AMGH 19,266.00
28 Navember 2017 to 30 June 2021 {inclusive) AMG 33,912.00
228,767.55
Future Remuneration
1 July 2621 to Conclusion AMPL 105,194.13
1 July 2021 to Conclusion AMG 45,152.84
150,377.97
Total Remuneration Claim 379,145.52

The Liquidator is seeking approval for historical fees of $175,589.55 for AMPL covering the period 25 June
2019 to 30 June 2021, $19,266.00 for AMGH covering the pericd 19 April 2017 to 30 June 2021 and

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING
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$33,912.00 for AMG covering the period 28 November 2017 1o 30 June 2021. Work conducted during this
period relates to the matters outlined in this Report and in my previous update dated 20 April 2C18,
however it has primarily consisted of pursuing the insofvent trading claim and determining how the Proceeds
should be distributed amongst the Group:

© Reviewing and assessing the solvency position of the Group and compiling evidence in support of
same;

] Determining commerciality of pursuing the insolvent trading claim;

a Preparing for and attending to mediation and settlement regarding the insolvent trading claim;
2 Reviewing and assessing aliocation of creditor claims that formed part of insolvent trading claim;
B Reviewing the Cross Deed;

=} Reviewing legal advice;

8 Preparing and analysing the estimated outcome statement;

Analysing the different outcomes under a pooling scenaric and a non-pooling scenario; and

]

i Liaising with solicitors and counsel on the insolvent trading claim and subsequent allocation of the
Proceeds.

The Liquidator is also seeking fee approval to an interim capped amount of $150,377.97 for future work for
AMPL and AMG to the conclusion of the Liquidation. it is anticipated that time subject to this approval will
be primarily spent in connection with the following:

2 Making an application to the Court in relation to the allocation of the Proceeds;
g The review, adjudication and payment of unsecured creditor claims; and

| Dealing with other steps necessary in finalising the liquidations of the 17 entities making up the
Group.

Details of the outstanding and future remuneration are provided for in the Remuneraticn Approval Reports
for the relevant Companies and Group on FTI Consulting’s creditor portal http://www. fticonsulting-

asia.com/creditors.

Noting the significant cost to convene a concurrent meeting of creditors for the Group, the Liquidator seeks
1o make an appiication under section 90-15 of Schedule 2 - Insolvency Practice Schedule {Corporations) for
the court 1o determine the remuneration properly incurred for the Group.

In addition to the propesed remuneration approval that is being sought as part of this Court application
described above, the following remuneration approvals have previously been approved and not vet drawn:
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Table 5: Remaining Fee Approvals

Amaount

Entity {$)

Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd 5329.5
AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd 84,380.0
Australian Music Group Pty Ltd 14,7910
Australian Music Pty L1d .0
Billy Hyde Imports Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd 13,4449
Billy Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd 13,676.0
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd 13,9415
Intarmusic Distribution Pty Ltd 13,165.6
MLA Asset Services Pty Ltd 13,2151
MILA Services Pty Ltd 13,250.3
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Musiclink Orchestral Supplies Pty Ltd 15,0000
The Billy Hyde Group Pty Ltd 15,000.0
Total 290,193.8

It is expected that for a number of the smaller entities that have around $15,000 in fee approval remaining,
remuneration and incurred costs will be paid 1o the extent that funds are unavailable in each of these
individual entities from the Primary Bank Account (“Unfunded Companies”). The Liquidator considers that
the payment of the remuneration and incurred costs of the Unfunded Companies is justified given:

A the integrated and interdependent business structure of the Group;

that tasks undertaken by my staff in relation to one Group entity were usually relevant to at teast one
other Group entity, if not the Group as a whole;

it was accordingly necessary for the Liquidator and his staff to investigate the affairs of the Unfunded
Companies in the course of investigating and administering the affairs of the Group in liquidation;

@ most of the Unfunded Companies were specific purpose entities incorporated to hold leases of retail
premises used by the Group, or other discrete operations. The operations of these entities benefitted
the group as a whole by enabling trading operations by the funded companies; and

® the Unfunded Companies incusred liabilities under the Cross Deed for the benefit of the funded
companies in the Group.

if you wish to object to the Liquidator seeking the approval by the court for his current future remuneration,
you must, within 21 days of the date of this Report, serve on the Liquidator, a notice of objection stating the
grounds of your objection. The Liguidator will then file an affidavit outlining the grounds of any objection(s)
received.

ﬁ CONSULTING
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5.

Current Financial Position and Estimated Return to Creditors

Detailed below is an estimated return to creditors. For illustrative purposes the Group is spiit into two
subgroups as follows:

&

g

AMGSS ~ this represents the employing company where all priority creditor claims exist; and

Cther entities — this is the sum of all other liquidations within the Group. This demonstrates the
anticipated return to unsecured creditors.

Table 6: Estimated outcome statement as at 30 June 2021 {Proportionate Method}

AMGSS  Other Entities
Available cash 712,335.1 1,133,127.3
Plus: insolvent trading cloim allocation 71,649.5 428,350.5

Less: current and future fees and expenses

Liguidator's fees and disbursements to 30 June 2021 (ex. G5T) {7,373.5) {255,231.3)
Liquidator's future fees and disbursements to conclusion (ex. GST} {est.) {84,380.0} {178,377.0)
Future legal fees and disbursements to conclusion [ex. GST] (est.) {75,000.0} {150,000.0}
Total professional fees and expenses (166,753.5} {583,608.2)
Funds availahle for priority creditors {wages and super} 617,231.1 977,869.6
Total Priority Creditors - Wages and Superannuation {344,406.8) N/A
Return to Priority Creditors - Wages and Superannuation 65.4 N/A
Funds available for subsequent priority claims 0.0 977,869.6
Total Priority Creditors - Leave Entitlements {1,917,113.6) N/A
Total Priority Creditors — Termination {3,141,499.1} N/A
Funds Available for unsecured creditors 0.0 977,869.6
Total Unsecured Creditors {32,016,896.9} (32,016,896.9)
Return to Unsecured Creditors 0.0% 3.2%

Creditors shoutd note the following in respect of the above:

calculation of the guantum of the dividend to creditors is a complex matter and the rate of the
dividend provided for above is indicative at this stage, and subject to change should further creditor
ciaims be received;

employee creditors are anticipated to receive a partial dividend in respect of wages and
superannuation out of the liguidation of AMGSS;

total employee claims are estimated to be just over $6 million. A deficiency of $5.4 miltion is
anticipated, which will represent an unsecured claim against the other entities; and

a return to unsecured creditors at 3.2 cents in the doliar is anticipated at this stage.
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Substantial work will be necessary in order to review and censider the creditor claims, and the Liquidator
and his staff are in process of reviewing these claims in anticipation to declare a first and final dividend te
creditors later in 2021.

6. Proofs of Debt

Creditors who have not submitted a formal proof of debt or claim {“POD") form are invited 1o do so as soon
as possible and accordingly, please find enclosed & notice inviting formal proof of debt or ciaim. A blank POD
form is also enclosed.

The Liquidator is not intending on declaring a dividend at this time and will write to creditors separately
when in a position to do so. Creditors are requested to submit their POD form electronically to
AMGereditors @fticonsulting.com noting which entity that their claim relates to.

Should you be unable to submit your POD efectronically, piease contact this office on {03) 9604 0600 or via
email at AMGcereditors@fticonsulting.com to discuss alternative arrangements.

7. Way Forward

The Liquidator intends on dealing with the following in the short to medium term:

=] Making an application to court in respect of the allocation of the Proceeds and Liguidator’s
remuneration;

] Reviewing and assessing priority and unsecured creditor ¢laims received; and

B Formally declaring and paying priority and unsecured dividends.

Thereafter, the Liquidator will take steps to finalise the liquidations. Creditors will be kept apprised of
updates as necessary.

Should you have any queries in relation to this update, please do not hesitate to contact this office on {03}
9604 0600 or via email at AMGcreditors@fticonsulting.com.

Yours faithfully
Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd & Associated Companies
(Al In Liquidation}
s
Raoss Blakeley \/

Liquidator

TR
CONSULTING



FORM 534
subregulation 5.6.48(3)

Corporations Act 2001
NOTICE INVITING FORMAL PROOF OF DEBT OR CLAIM

Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 127 691 534 (“AMGH"}
AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd ACN 117 052 936 ("AMGSS”}
Australian Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 127 926 434 (“AMG")

Australian Music Pty Ltd ACN 125 007 561 ("AMPL"}
Billy Hyde Imports Pty Ltd ACN 102 430 704
Billy Hyde Music Adelaide Pty Ltd ACN 118 409 466
Bifly Hyde Music Brisbane Pty Ltd ACN 110 657 718
Billy Hyde Music Gold Coast Pty Ltd ACN 125 873 752
Billy Hyde Music Group Pty Ltd ACN 116 338 371
Billy Hyde Music Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd ACN 121 011 970
[ntermusic Distribution Pty Ltd ACN 006 533 831
MLA Asset Services Pty 1td ACN 131 523 905
MLA Services Pty Ltd ACN 005 564 509
Music Link Australia Pty Ltd ACN 005 541 235
Music Link Orchestral Supplies Pty Ltd ACN 117 581 996
Musiclink Group Pty Ltd ACN 125 412 464
The Billy Hyde Group Pty Ltd ACN 126 132 107
{All In Liquidation}
{Collectively “the Group” or “Companies”)
Formerly trading as “Allans Billy Hyde”

Take notice that creditors of the Company, whose debts or claims have not already been admitted, are
required on or before 8 August 2021 to prove their debts or claims and to establish any title they may have
to priority by delivering or posting to me at my address a formal proof of debt or claim in accordance with
Form 535 or 536 containing their respective debts or claims.

If they do not they will be excluded from:

{a) the benefit of any distribution made before their debts or claims are proved or their priority is
established; and

{b) objecting to the distribution.
Form of proof may be obtained from me.

Dated this 8™ day of July 2021

Jfrﬂ %/
Ross Blakeley

Liquidator



FORM 16
rules 9.1,9.2,9.3,9.4,9.5

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPLY FOR REMUNERATION

IN THE MATTER OF Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd {ACN 127 691 534), Australian Music Group Pty
Lid {ACN 127 926 434) and Australian Music Pty Ltd {ACN 125 007 561} (All In Liguidation) (Collectively the
“Companies”)

TO: Creditors of the Companies

TAKE NOTICE that, not less than 21 days after this notice is served on you, |, Ross Blakeley of FTI Consulting,
of 600 Bourke Street Melbourne VIC 3000, the liquidator of the above companies, intend to apply to the Court
to determine my remuneration.

if you object to my application, you must, within 21 days after being served with this notice, serve on me a
notice of objection stating the grounds of objection to the rernuneration claimed.

Dated this 8™ day of July 2021

) o7

Ross Blakeley
Liquidator



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX: 258 Melbourne
Prepared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3666
Lawyears Ref: MO1H:MJER:605TBBT
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda.hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Vicloria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-7" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:
ISABELLA KESARA PIERK
/Ji"%_ PPl g]?au.g::mf Sal. Mn:.’:—:fulrjcle i
Signature of person taking affidavit ustratian kegal pracition

within the meaning of e Leo ol

%, fg Profossion Wniforos Lo (Weaclors

Ross Andrew Bia
Exhibit "RAB-7"
Copy of the correspondence between FTl and Mr
Richter

|B0STAET 006 2642865_1] page T



Tansley, George

From: Tansley, George

Sent: Friday, 9 April 2021 10:18 AM

To: RICHTER,Michael

Cc: Mazzone, James; Mazzulla, Tara; DAVIS,Lhia-Clare
Subject: RE: AMG Shared Services {In Liguidation) [SEC=0FFICIAL]
Dear Michael

We respond to your email from 8 March 2021 as follows.

Management and operation of the Group, how employees paid/managed and extent of separate accounting

records

The following is a summary of the management and operation of the Group as the Liguidator understands it:

1.

11

1.2

13

14

15

16

The companies collaboratively traded the companies of the Group. This had the impact of intertwining the
companies in that:

one entity, Australian Music Pty Ltd (ACN 125 007 561} (“Australian Music”}, was responsible for the
generation of, on average, 85% of the Group's income. A cessation of Australian Music’s operations would
likely have left the Group without sufficient funds to meet their short term liabilities;

all employee creditors of the Group were employed, managed and paid by AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd
{ACN 117 052 936), a wholly owned subsidiary of Australian Music Group Holdings Pty Ltd (ACN 127 691
534); -

a number of leases in relation to the premises occupied by the Group in its cperations were held by
various entities within the Group. The termination of these leases would have resuited in the Group being
unable to trade from a number of its premises;

Mr Timothy James Mason and Mr John Frederick Helme held directorships in all companies in the Group.
Mr Mason also acted as company secretary of each of the Group companies;

the fixed assets and stock of the companies were dispersed between a number of entities within the
Group. The loss of these assets would adversely impact the remaining Group’s ability to trade;

the companies in the Group are all parties to the Deed of Cross-Guarantee. The effect of the Deed of
Cross-Guarantee is that:

1.6.1 each company is a guarantor of the debt owed by every other company to that company’s
creditors, as well as being primarily fiable to pay its own creditors; and

16.2 the Group is eligible to prepare consolidated accounts and maintain the books and records of the
Group on a consolidated basis.

Determination of Pooling

As you are aware, the Corporations Act {“Act”) allows for twe methods of pooling of the assets and liabilities of two
or more companies that are in liquidation, being:

1.

a pooling determination made by the liquidator and ratified by the ‘eligible unsecured creditors’ {section
571 of the Act); or



2. a pooling order made by a court (section 579E of the Act).

The effect of a pooling determination or a pooling order {unless otherwise modified as part of the determination} is
that each company in the Group becomes jointly and severally liable for the debts payable by the other companies
and all intra-group debts and claims are extinguished.

Notwithstanding the above, in order to satisfy the Court that a pooling order is just and equitable in accordance with
the factors referred to at section 579E{12) of the Act, the Court must consider, inter alia, the extent to which
creditors of any of the companies in the group may be advantaged or disadvantaged by the making of the order.
Additionally, section 579&{10)(a) of the Act confirms that the Court must not make a pooling order where the Court
is satisfied that the order would materially disadvantage an eligible unsecured creditor of a company in the group
and the eligible unsecured creditor has not consented to the making of the order. Given the majority of creditors of
the companies of the Group {the unsecured creditors) wili not receive a return in a pooling scenario, they would be
‘materially disadvantaged’, it therefore appears that the Court therefore cannot make such an order.

Case law confirms that in assessing whether an eligible unsecured creditor of a company would be “materially
disadvantaged” by a pooling order, consideration must be given to the estimated return to the eligible unsecured
creditor in a pooling scenaric as compared to in a non-pooled scenario and whether any creditor has appeared to
object to the making of the proposed pooling order.

A pooling determination is unlikely to be approved by the eligible unsecured creditors of each of the companies in
the Group in circumstances where they would stand to receive no return in the liquidations. Conversely, without a
pooling determination or pooling order, the eligible unsecured creditors are estimated to receive between 3 to 4
cents in the dollar.

Court Application for distribution of proceeds

1. We are currently preparing an application to the Court regarding the allocation of the insolvent trading
claim proceeds and the distribution of funds to creditors (“Application”}.

2. Ultimately, the Liquidator has determined that the most appropriate method by which the Insoivent
Trading Claim proceeds are to be distributed is in proportion to each amount of the claim {debts incurred)
for insolvent trading made in respect of each of the companies,

3. We note that the Application is currently being finalised and creditors are shortly to be notified of the
Application (prior to its filing). We therefore anticipate that the Application will be filed by May 2021.

Should you have any queries in relation to this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
Kind Regards

George Tansley _
Associate, Corporate Finance & Restructuring

FTI Consulting

Level 21 / 600 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

+613 9604 0631 T | +61 481292 210 M
Gegrge.tanslev@fticonsulting.com

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Scheme may not apply to all services.




From: RICHTER,Michael <Michael.Richter@jobs.gov.au>

Sent: Thursday, 8 April 2021 2:46 PM

To: Tansley, George <George.Tansley@fticonsulting.com>

Cc: Linton, Kieran <Kieran.Linton @fticonsulting.com>; Mazzone, James <James.Mazzone@fticonsulting.com>;
Mazzulla, Tara <Tara.Mazzulla@jobs.gov.au>; DAVIS, Lhia-Clare <Lhia-Clare.Davis@jobs.gov.au>

Subject: [EXTERNAL) RE: AMG Shared Services (In Liguidation) [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hi George
Further to our telephone call on 23 March 2021, when can we expect your response?

Regards

Michael Richter
Senior Forensic Investigator

Recovery Team | Recovery and Litigation Branch

Employee Entitlement Safeguards and Policy Division

Attorney-General's Depariment

T: {G2) 6121 6516 {ext 66516} M: 0419 791 690 | michael.richter@jchs.gov.au | www.ag.gov.au

Legal in confidence: This transmission is intended only for the use of the addressee and may contain confidential or legally
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, you are notified that any use or dissemination of this
communication is strictly prohibited. if you have received this transmission in error, please notify us immediately by telephone
and delete copies of this transmission together with any attachments.

From: RICHTER,Michael

Sent: Monday, 8 March 2021 12:53 PM

To: Tansley, George <George.Tansley@fticonsulting.com>

Cc: Linton, Kieran <Kieran.Linton@fticonsulting.com>; Mazzone, James <James.Mazzone@fticonsulting.com>;
Mazzulla, Tara <Tara.Mazzulla@iobs.gov.au>; DAVIS,Lhia-Clare <Lhia-Clare.Davis@jobs.gov.au>

Subject: RE: AMG Shared Services (In Liquidation) [SEC=0FFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Dear George
We have considered your updated dividend analysis along with the commentary in your emails. In the emait of 16
November 2020, you noted that in consultation with your legal advisors, you have made a preliminary decision not

to apply for a pooling determination for the purpose of section 571(1) of the Act.

We would like to better understand why you have formed the view that the pooling of the companies is not in the
best interest of creditors.

Specifically, we refer to section 579£{12} which provides the factors which a court must have regard to when
determining whether the pooling determination is considered ‘just and equitable’ and consider the conditions for a

pocling determination for the group of companies could be satisfied pursuant to section 571 and 579E of the Act.

Accordingly, we would be gratefui if you could provide any additionai information used to make your determination
including:

e The extent the Group was managed or operated as an integrated operation;



¢ The manner in which the employees were paid and/or managed; and
e« The extent of separate accounting records for each entity.

Further, can you please provide an update on the proposed application to Court in respect to the allocation of the
proceeds of the Insolvent Trading Claim and/or distribution of funds to the unsecured creditors.

We would be pleased to discuss this matter by way of a teleconference if that is more suitable for you?

Regards

Michael Richter
Senior Forensic Investigator

Recovery Team | Recovery and Litigation Branch

Employee Entitlement Safeguards and Palicy Division

Attorney-General’s Department

T: (02} 6121 6516 {ext 66516) M: 0413 791 690 | michael.richter@jobs.gov.au | www.ag.gov.au

Legal in confidence: This transmission is intended only for the use of the addressee and may contain confidential or legally
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, you are notified that any use or dissemination of this
communication is strictly prehibited. If you have received this transmission in error, please notify us immediately by telephone
and delete copies of this transmission together with any attachments.

From: Tansley, George <George.Tansley@fticonsulting.com>

Sent: Friday, 29 lanuary 2021 5:15 PM

To: RICHTER, Michael <Michael.Richter@ijobs.gov.au>

Cc: Linton, Kieran <Kieran.Linton@fticonsulting.com>; Mazzone, James <lames.Mazzone@fticonsulting.com>
Subject: AMG Shared Services (In Liquidation)

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not dlick links or open attachments unless you recognise the
sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Michael
| refer to your telephone call with James Mazzone and Kieran Linton of FTI Consulting on 21 January 2021.

We have updated our dividend analysis to take account of recent movements in the bank accounts and based on
current figures and if no pooling order is sort, we estimate the return to the Commonwealth would be $323k,
comprised of:

e c.$147k return in respect of wages and super (65.1 cents in the dollar}; and
e c.5175k return in respect of the anticipated shortfall as a ‘guarantee’ creditors (3.41 cents in the dollar}.

The return to the Commonwealth as a ‘guarantee’ creditor, represents the Commanwealth’s entitlement, along with
other priority creditors, to claim equally with other unsecured creditors of the group for any shortfall from the
liquidation of AMGSS by virtue of the Cross Guarantee.

For completeness, in a pooling scenario, we estimate the return to the Commonwealth would be 100 cents in the
dollar for wages and superannuation, and 39.3 cents in the dellar return in respect of leave entitiements, comprising
a total return of $979k as follows:

+ $226k in respect of wages and super {100 cents in the dollar); and

4



e S$752kin respect of leave entitlements (3.3 cents in the dollar}.

It remains the case that there wili be no return te unsecured creditors in 3 pooling scenario,

As requested, attached is a summary of the current Receipts and Payments for AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd and below
is 3 summary of the five largest unsecured creditors of the Group, which includes the Commonweaith in respect of
their ‘guarantee’ unsecured creditor claim, and the associated estimated return.

Top 5 Unsecured Creditor Claims

Creditor Debtor {First Instance) Amount (5) Estimated Return {5)
The Commonwealth* AMG Shared Services Pty Lid (5,137,648.72} 175,385.19
Melbourne Centrepoint Management Australian Music Group Pty Ltd {5,028,229.71) 171,645.93
Revere Capital All entities of the Group {5,600,000.00} 170,686.24
Gwynvill Properties Pty Ltd AMG Shared Services (3,743,891.50) 127,806.17
Yamaha Music Australia Australian Music Pty Ltd (1,813,509.00) 61,908.21
Total {20,723,279.33) $55,065.88

*This represents the unsecured return the Commonweaith is entitled to receive in respect of its unsecured ‘guarantee’ creditor
claim against the wider group. The full return to the Commonwealth is anticipated to be $323k.

Please let me know if you require further information.
Kind regards

George Tansley
Associate, Corporate Finance & Restructuring

FT1 Consulting

Level 21 / 600 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

+61 39604 0631 T | +61 481 292 210M
Gearge.tansley@fiiconsulting.com

Liability limited by a scheme approved vader Professional Standards Legislation. Scheme may not apply to all services.

Confidentiality Notice:

This email and any attachments may be confidentiai and protected by legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any
disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any attachment is prohibited. If you have received this email in error, piease notify us
immediately by replying to the sender and then delete this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your cooperation.

Notice:

The information contained in this email message and any attached files may be confidential information, and may
also be the subject of legal professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient any use, disclosure or copying
of this email is unauthorised. If you received this email in error, please notify the sender by contacting the
department’s switchboard on 1300 488 064 during business hours {8:30am - 5pm Canberra time} and delete all
copies of this transmission together with any attachments.



Isabella Pierri

Subject: FW: AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd (in Liquidation) {"AMGSS”) [SEC=0FFICIAL]

From: "Linton, Kieran" <Kieran.Linton@fticonsulting.com>

Pate: Monday, 16 November 2020 at 4:18:53 pm

To: "Humphreys, Stephen” <Stephen.Humphreys@ag.gov.au>
Cc: "Blakeley, Ross" <Ross.Blakeley@fticonsulting.com>
Subject: AMG Shared Services Pty Ltd (in Liquidation} ("AMGSS®)

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not follow guidance, click links, or open attachments
uniess you recognise the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Stephen

| refer to previous correspondence regarding the above matter.

As you may be aware, AMGSS formed part of a broader group of companies trading as “Allans Billy Hyde” and each
of the companies comprising the Group are parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee {“Deed”). This means:

o The assets of AMGSS are first available for the benefit of those employee creditors. Those employee creditors
then prove equally with unsecured creditors in the liquidations of the remaining Group entities for any
deficiency; and

¢ By virtue of the cross-guarantee all unsecured creditors are treated equally, regardless of where their claim
may lie. Accordingly, the assets of the remaining Group entities are, in essence, pooled and available for
distribution to the unsecured creditors of the Group equally, together with the employee creditors of AMGSS
to the extent there is a deficiency.

The Liquidator, in consultation with his legal advisors, has considered whether it is appropriate that a pooling order
is sought. in order to successfully obtain a pooling order, regard has to be taken to the material advantage gained by
ali creditors in obtaining the pooling order i.e. if creditors are disproportionately disadvantaged by the pooling
order, a successful application would be unlikely.

We have undertaken an analysis of the distribution waterfall, having regard to the cross-guarantee, and note that as
it stands:

s there is estimated to be approximately 65 cents in the dollar available for wages and superannuation for
employee creditors in AMGSS; and

» there would be a poot of funds of approximately $1.1 million available for unsecured and ‘guarantee’ creditors
of the other entities making up the Group (i.e. excluding AMGSS).

If no pooling order is sort, we estimate the return to the Commonweaith would be $319,155, comprised of:

s . 5148k return in respect of wages and super; and

e c. 5170k return in respect of the anticipated shortfall as a ‘guarantee’ creditors.



However, in a pooling scenario, as priority creditors retain their priority against the pooled assets, that $1.1 mitlion
previously available for unsecured creditors would instead become available to the priority employees. Thus,
resulting in a 100 cents in the dollar for wages and superannuation, and 38 cents in the doilar return in respect of
leave entitiements. There would be no return to unsecured creditors in & pooling scenario. In this scenario, we
anticipate the estimated return for the Commonweaith would be c. $955k, comprised of:

e 3226k in respect of wages and super {100 cents in the dollar}; and
s 5728k in respect of leave entitles (38 cents in the dollar).

It is our preliminary view that unsecured creditors will suffer a material disadvantage in a pooling scenario and thus
a pooling application would be prejudicial to the broader creditor group, and therefore unlikely that orders for
pooling will be made by the Court. Accordingly, the Liguidator does not intend to make the application. However,
we welcome the Commonwealth’s views on this position.

We intend on providing creditors with an update and call for formal proofs of debt shortly. Accordingly, we request
that you provide your views as soon as possible as this is a material matter that will impact on our reporting.

Should you wish to discuss, please do not hesitate to contact me or Ross to discuss.

Kind regards

Kieran Linton

Senior Director, Corporate Finance & Restructuring

kieran.linton{@fticonsulting.com

FTI Consulting

+61 39604 0638 T | +61 422133 109 M | +61 3 9604 0659 F
Level 21, Bourke Place, 600 Bourke Street

Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia

www.fticonsulting.com

Liabifity fimited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legistation. Scheme may not opply to alf services.

Confidentiality Notice:
This email and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal privilege. if you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any

2



disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any attachmeant is prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify us
immediately by replying to the sender and then delete this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your cooperation.

If you have received this transmission in error please
notify us immediately by return e-mail and delets all
copies. If this e-mail or any attachments have been sent
to you in error, that error does not constitute waiver

of any cenfidentiality, privilege or copyright in respect

of information in the e-mail or attachments.

Notice:

The information contained in this email message and any attached files may be confidential information, and may
also be the subject of legal professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient any use, disclosure or copying
of this email is unauthorised. If you received this email in error, please notify the sender by contacting the
department's switchboard on 1300 488 064 during business hours {8:30am - 5pm Canberra time) and delete all
copies of this transmission together with any attachments.

Noftice:

The information contained in this email message and any attached files may be confidential information, and may
also be the subject of legal professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient any use, disclosure or copying
of this email is unauthorised. If you received this email in error, please notify the sender by contacting the
department's switchboard on 1300 488 064 during business hours {8:30am - 5pm Canberra time} and delete all
copies of this transmission together with any attachments.



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code; 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX 253 Melbourme
Frepared by: Tel (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 1666
Lawyers Ref. MO1TH:MJER:B057887
Collins Square. Towear Two Attention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Sireet Email: marelda. hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Victoria 3008

This is the axhibit marked "RAB-8" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakelay at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021,

Before me:

ISABELLA KESARA PIERR
4 72T Colins 5t, Melbourne 3008

Signature of %nn taking affidavit An Australian legal practitioner

within the: meaning of the Legal

21 %‘4‘ Profossion Uniform Law (Vickoni)
- Lt
Ross Andrew EIEREQ/

Exhibit "RAB-8"
Copy of the schedule recording the
Proportionate Method
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

Firzt Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Coda: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX: 259 Melboume
Prepared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3666
Lawyers Ref: MO1H:MJER:6057887
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention; Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda, hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Vicloria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-8" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
tire of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:
/ _ - ISABELLA KESARA PIERRI
ks ;5 i S | .':'2'-'-" CDI.'lnt_i 51, Molbourne 3004
Signature of person taking affidavit An Austrilian legal practitionar
within the: micaning of the Lespil
2 ,.f"_,:-:" Protfossion Uniform Law {Wiilesrt |
Ross Andrew Blakehey™

Exhibit "RAB-9"
Copy of the schedule recording the Even Method
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS {IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT

Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX 259 Melbourme
Prepared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3666
Lawyers Ref: MOTH:MJER:G057887T
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Colling Street Email: marelda.hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Victoria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-10" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:
ISABELLA HESARA PIERR]
/4;/ IIT:II.:’F Lnlh-"u_-‘, St Melbourna 3001
Lot 7 nﬁgﬁﬁg o n Australian kegal practitionar
g withiny the maexaning of the Logal

Profession Unifon L {Viehsru)

'Ross Andrew Blal

Exhibit "RAB-10"
Copy of the pooling analysis
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AMIG Companies - Estimated Dividend Distribution [as at 30 June 2021}

All Entities

Pooling Order

Available cash at bank 2,345,462
Insolvent Trading Claim Aliocation
Assets available 2,345,462
Less: Recovery from insolvent trading claim
Estimated cash available 2,345,462
Fees and expenses
Current legal fees and disbursements (ex. GST) -
Current liguidators’ fees and dishursements {ex. GST)} {262,605)
Future liquidator's fees and disbursements {ex. G5T) (262,757)
Future legal fees and disbursements (ex. GST) (225,000)
Funds available to secured creditors 1,595,101
Secured creditors .
Funds available for employee entitlements 1,585,101
Gross Amount (944,407)
Wages - FEG {226,666)
Wages - DHS {1,148)
Wages - Contingency {350,000)
Super (366,592)
Estimated dividend for superannuation and wages (cents in the dollar) 100.0
Leave - FEG {(1,917,114)
Estimated dividend for [eave {cents in the dollar) 33.9
Redundancy (3,141,499}

Estimated dividend for redundancy (cents in the dollar)

Funds available for unsecured creditors

Direct creditors of Group Company
Plus Guarantee Creditors

Unsecured Creditors of other Group Companies
ATO

Revere

Employees

Total Unsecured / Guarantee Creditors

{20,803,376)

(20,803,376)

IEstimated dividend to creditors {cents in the dollar)




IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD ({IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX 259 Malbourne
Prepared by: Tel: (03) D258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3866
Lawyers Ref: MO1H:MJER:6057887
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Streat Email: marelda.hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Victoria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-11" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:
/ J?‘%—J‘%Bfl.l AKESARA PIERRI
F27 Collins 5 hotrme 2007
. J:F .r..:;p; o SR An -"'.11121'.5Iir||!ian:.?.I‘:ﬁf1n'I|[|-.tlI:']' :
EIQI'IE’[UFE of gerson taking affidavit within the nweaning of the Lol
Profession Unifon Lo | Waskiorns;
Ross Andrew Elamlﬁh{/ﬁ
Exhibit "RAB-11"
Copy of the Remuneration Approval Report for
AMPL dated 8 July 2021
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8 July 2021

Remuneration
Approval Report

Australian Music Pty Ltd
{In Liquidation)
125007 561
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Remuneration Approval Report
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Remuneration Approval Report 3

Summary

This remuneration approval report provides you with the information that the Corporations Act 2001
{Act) and the Code of Professional Practice published by the Australian Restructuring Insolvency and
Turnaround Association (ARITA) requires creditors to receive to make an informed decision regarding
the approval of our remuneration for undertaking the Liquidation of Austraiian Music Pty Ltd (In
Liquidation) 125 007 561 (the “Company”).

Woe are asking the Court to approve the following remuneration and disbursements:

Liguidation — Period Remuneration {excl GST) Dishursements {excl GST)
Liquidation — 25 June 2019 to
4 $175,589.55 S0.00
30 June 2021
Liquidation — 1 July 2021 to
a Y $105,194.13 $0.00

Conclusion

Creditors have previously approved our remuneration and disbursements as follows:

Voluntary Administration -

. Remuneration {excl GST) Disbursements {excl G5T)
Period
23 August 2012 to 31 December
$70,776.85 $0.00
2012 .
1 January 2013 to 25 January
25,000.00 0.00
2013 > :
Liguidation — Period Remuneration {excl G5T) Disbursements (excl GST)
25 January 2013 to 15 January
$100,000.00 50.00
2014
15 January 2014 to 15 April
Y P $264,813.50 $0.00
2016
16 April 2016 to 24 June 2015 $350,000.00 $0.00

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING



Remuneration Approval Report 4

We estimate that the total cost of this Liquidation will be $895,597.18 (excluding GST}. This has
increased from my previous estimate as further investigations were required into the financial affairs
of the Company including but not limited to identifying, assessing and pursuing the insclvent trading
claim.

This is my final remuneration approval request.
Declaration

1, Ross Blakeley, of FT1 Consulting, have undertaken a proper assessment of the claims for
remuneration for the appointment as Liguidator of the Company in accordance with the law and
applicable professional standards. | am satisfied that the remuneration claimed is in respect of
necessary work, properly performed, or to be properly performed, in the conduct of this appointment.

Remuneration sought

The remuneration we are asking the Court to be approved is summarised as follows:

Amount $ ' Timing of
For Period Applicable rates
{excl GST) payment
As perthe
Work already 25 June 2019 to .
$175,589.55 attached hourly Immediately
completed 30 June 2021
rates
As perthe
1 July 2021 %0 P When funds are
Future work o $105,194.13 attached hourly )
Finalisation available
rates
Total $280,783.68

Details of the work already done are enclosed at Schedule A.

Schedule B includes a breakdown of time spent by staff members on each major task for work we have
already done.

Resolutions to be considered by the Court are included at Schedule C for your information.

ﬁ F T I’
CONSULTING



Remuneration Approval Report

Disbursements

We are not required to seek creditor approval for costs paid to third parties or where we are
recovering a cost incurred on behalf of the administration, but we must provide details to creditors.

Details of these amounts are included in the attached Receipts and Payments.

We are required to obtain creditors’ consent for the payment of a dishursement where we, or a

related entity, may directly or indirectly obtain a profit.

We are not currently seeking approval for disbursements.

Previous remuneration approvals

The following remuneration approvals have previously been provided by creditors:

Period For Approving body

23 August 2012 to
work already

31 December Creditors
completed
2012
1January 2013 tc
Y future work Creditors
25 fanuary 2013
Total Voluntary Administration Period Previously
Approved
Period For Approving hody
25 January 2013
to 15 January future work Creditors
2014
15 January 2014 work already _
. Creditors
to 15 April 2016 completed
16 April 2016 to
P future work Creditors

24 June 2019

Total Liquidation Peried Previously Approved

Approved
amount S

$70,776.85

$25,000.00

$95,776.85

Approved
amount $

$106,000.00

$264,813.50

$350,000.00

$714,813.50

Amount paid $

$70,776.85

$17,211.65

$87,988.50

Amount paid $

$100,000.00

$264,813.50

$350,000.00

$714,813.50

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING



Remuneration Approval Report 6

We are now seeking approval of a further $280,783.68 in remuneration which will bring total
remuneration claimed in this Liquidation to $595,597.18.

Likely impact on dividends

The Act sets the order for payment of claims against the Company and it provides for remuneration of
the Liquidation to be paid in priority to other claims. This ensures that when there are sufficient funds,
the Liquidation receives payment for the work done to recover assets, investigate the Company’s
affairs, report to creditors and ASIC and distribute any available funds.

Based on:

e realisations to date

estimated future realisations

@ estimated remuneration to complete the Liquidation

@ the estimated total of creditor claims based on the Company’s records and claims lodged

| estimate that a dividend of between 3 and 4 cents in the dollar will be paid in the Liquidation. Please
note that this estimate is subject to a range of variables, particularly the future realisations and
creditor claims.

Summary of receipts and payments
A summary of the receipts and payments for the Liquidation as at 30 June 2021 is enclosed at Schedule
E to this report,

An annual administration return was lodged with ASIC on 7 Aprit 2021 which also provides information
on the conduct of the administration.

Queries

Further supporting documentation for our remuneration claim can be provided to creditors on
request.

You can also access information which may assist you on the following:

B ARITA at www.arita.com.au/creditors

ASIC at www.asic.gov.au {search for INFO 85}

If you have any queries in relation to the information in this report, please contact George Tansley of
this office on {03} 9604 0631 or hy email at george. tanslev@fticonsulting.com.
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Yours faithfully

Australian Music

{In Liguidation)
/7 7
v

Ross Blakeley

Liquidator

Attachments:

Schedule A - Details of work

Schedule B — Time spent by staff on each major task {work already done}
Schedule € - Resolutions

Schedule D ~ Explanation where remuneration previously approved
Schedule £ — Summary of receipts and payments

Schedule F — FTI Consuiting schedule of rates effective 1 july 2021
Scheduie G -~ FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020
Schedule H — FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 May 2018
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Schedule C — Resolution

Resolution 1 — Retrospective Remuneration

“That the remuneration of the Liguidator, their partners and staff, for the period from 25 June 2019 to
30 June 2021 is approved for payment in the amount of $175,589.55, exciusive of GST, to be drawn
from avoilable funds immediately or as funds become available. Remuneration is calculated in
accordance with the hourly rates applicable to the grades or classifications set out in the FTI Consulting
Schedule of Standard Rates dated 1 May 2018 and 1 April 2020”.

Resolution 2 — Future Remuneration

“That the future remuneration of the Liquidator for the period from I July 2021 to finafisation of the
Liguidation, is determined at a sum equal to the cost of time spent by the Liquidator and their partners
and staff, calculated in accordance with the hourly rates applicable to the grades or classifications set
out in the FTI Consulting Schedule of Standard Rates dated 1 July 2021, up to a capped amount of
§105,194.13, exclusive of GST, and that the Liguidator can draw the remuneration from available funds
as time is incurred on a monthly basis or as funds become available”,

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING



Remuneration Approval Report 16

Schedule D - Explanation where remuneration previously approved

At the creditors meeting of 11 May 2016, creditors approved our prospective remuneration of
$350,000.00. To date, we have drawn $350,000.00 and applied it in payment of our remuneration. Qur
remuneration has exceeded this cap and in this report we are now seeking approval of $175,589.55
plus GST for work already done and $105,194.13 for work in order to finalise the Liquidation.

 Feesalready Approval sought Approval sought © Total fees sought
Task “approved as at 11 - for work already © for future work per task
: May 2016 : done : :
Assets 5 905.00 5 -5 - 8 905.00
Creditors $ 75,870.00 - S 54,856.00 ; S 28,481.04 s 159,207.04
Emplovees 5 - | S -5 - % -
Trade on 5 -5 -5 -3 -
Investigation S 424,288.00 S 56,146.00 S - $  480,434.00
Dividend S 155,000.00 $ 32,515.003 S 69,0649 S 256,579.91
Administration s 58,750.50. 3 32,072.55 $ 7,648.18 $ 98,471.23
TOtaI{eXGS_T} . 5714:81350 s : 175’589 553 . 105’19413 S 994’69218
TOta;lRemune_ra_tmnprewous'yap;;o_ved_ PR e $ 7_1 4,81350 :
D‘ﬁerence(see be[owtab [eforfurt}:erbreakdown} e e ; _ 2 79’8786;;
Payment reconciliation
TOta!remunera_tl;ndalmed e e e e , 994,(_5921;_
Amo_;n;;;idto_(;ate S s 714’813.5{}..
. _A&munt S e S ;7_9’_878;8
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In the below table we compare, on a task basis, the difference between our previous remuneration

report and this report, together with explanations for the difference.

Task

Assets

Creditors

Employees
Trade on
Investigation

Dividend

Administrati
on

Total (ex
GST)

~ Fees already
. approved as at
© 11 May 2016
S 905.00
~$  75,870.00
S -
> ]

S 424,288.00

"~ § 155,000.00

S 58,750.50

§ 714,813.50

. Total per task
{from previous

table}
S -
$ 159,207.04
S -
: ; _

$ 480,434.00

$ 256,579.91

S 98,471.23

$ 994,692.18 -

__fundshandling.

279,878.68

Reasons for difference

N/A

. The length of the administration as a
" resuit of investigations inte the financial

affairs of the companies in the group
was not foreseen, contributing to
additional reporting reguirements.

~ Further, preparation of creditor reports
- and remuneration reports outlining

Liguidator’s analysis of distribution

~ methods was required.

N/A

: N/A

Pursuit of insolvent trading claim,
consideration of cross guarantee and
seeking and reviewing legal advice on
distribution methods

A dividend to unsecured creditors was
not foreseen.

- Adjudication of approximately 330
- unsecured creditors during COVID-19
- The length of the administration as a

result of investigations into the financial

- gffairs of the companies in the group
~ was not foreseen, contributing to

additional meetings, statutory tasks and

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING
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We also make the following general comments regarding the progress of the Liguidation that have
affected our previous remuneration estimate:

Determining the most just and efficient method of distributing the proceeds of the insolvent trading
claim considering the number of Companies in the Group and the effect of the Deed of Cross
Guarantee was not foreseen by the Liquidator.

m Similarly, making an application to the court under sections 90-15, 60-10{1){c) and 65-45 of
Schedule 2 — Insolvency Practice Schedule {Corporations) to the Act, seeking various orders and
directions necessary to fairly and efficiently finalise the Liguidations was not foreseen by the
Liguidator.

@ Consideration as to whether a pooling determination or a pooling order would be appropriate in the
circumstances was required.

z Additional time was required to adjudicate on approximately 330 unsecured creditors as the COVID-
19 pandemic forced staff of this office to deal with physical and electronic records off site.

We have provided an explanation of tasks remaining to be completed, including our estimated costs to
complete those tasks, tc support our current remuneration approval request, in this report and in
Schedule A.

b E..T..J
CONSULTING
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Schedule E — Summary of receipts and payments 30 April 2018 to

30 June 2021

Receipts
Interest Income

GST Refund

Insolvent Trading Claim

Total Receipts

Paymenis

. Lega[ Fees
Liguidator's Disbursements
Liguidator's Remuneration

Total Payments

Net Receipts

64,785.20

50,232.00
500,000.00

£15,017.20

346,772.96

1,945.23
177,271.76

525,989.95

£8,027.25
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Schedule F - FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 July 2021

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard
rates
S/hour*®

720

660

580

530

430

435

General guide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in ail forms of insclvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualificaticns.

Significant experience across ail types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to farge
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the '
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skiils and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Well developed technical and
commaercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists planning and control of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

ﬁ F T |
CONSULTING
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Classification

Consultant 2

Consultant 1
Associate 2

Associate 1

Treasury

Junior Associate

Administration 2

Administration 1

Junior Accourtant

Standard
rates
S/hour*

390

360

335

300

220

220

220

185

170

21

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
farger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant {or simitar). Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is respensible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’' experience. Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typicaily a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically, qualified accountant and/or bookkeeper working in a
treasury function. Undertakes treasury activities and is skilled in all
aspects of bookkeeping, funds handling, banking, payroll, tax
compliance, accounts receivabie and accounts payable.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

* Alf rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTi Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are

subject to pericdical review.

i E..T..I
CONSULTING
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Schedule G — FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020

Classification

Senior Managing
Cirector/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard
raies
S/hour™

720

660

580

320

470

430

General guide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skiils and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
guatifications.

Significant experience across zall types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skilis and/or
gualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Well developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a smatl team of
professionals. Assists planning and contro! of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

km FE..T.. I
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Standard
Classification rates
s/hour™
Consultant 2 390
Consuttant 1 360
Associate 2 335
Associate 1 300
Junior Associate 220
Administration 2 220
Jurtior Accountant 170
Administration 1 185

23

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficuit tasks on
larger administrations.

Typicaily institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Reguired to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required fo assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skiils.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree,

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skitls.

* All rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are

subject to periodical review.

TR
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Schedule H -~ FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 May 2019

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard
rates
S/hour*

695

625

375

515

465

400

Ganeral guide to classifications

Registered Liguidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insclvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership exgerience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, compiex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liguidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
jeadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements ata -
very senijor level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
gualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to large
administrations, controlling a team of professicnals. Answerable to
the appeintee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member, Well developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists planning and control of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and controf of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

TR
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Standard
Classification rates
5/hour*®
Consultant 2 375
Consultant 1 335
Associate 2 320
Associate 1 300
Junior Associate 195
Administration 2 205
Junior Accountant 155
Administration 1 165

25

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant, Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or simifar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skiils and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bockkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

* Al rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corpoerate Finance & Restructuring practice and are

subject to periodical review.



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
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IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of decurmnent: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of: The Plaintiffs DX: 2589 Melboune
Prepared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3665
rs Ref: MDTH:MJER. 6057887
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention: Mareida Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Victorna 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-12" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before me:

o

ISABELLA KESARA PIERR
f2T Collins St Meboume 5008

i ; p . An Australian legal practitiones
Elgnﬂmmn tEIEII'Ig affidavit within the meaning of the Lol
| Profession Uniform Law (Witdiwen)
;2’;} f"‘é -
G &
'Ross Andrew Blakeley

Exhibit "RAB-12"
Copy of the Remuneration Approval Report for
AMGH dated 8 July 2021
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Summary

This remuneration approval report provides you with the information that the Corporations Act 2001
{Act) and the Code of Professional Practice published by the Australian Restructuring Insolvency and
Turnaround Association {ARITA) requires creditors to receive to make an informed decision regarding
the approval of our remuneration for undertaking the the Liguidation of Australian Music Group
Holdings Pty Ltd {In Liguidation) ACN 127 651 534.

We are asking the Court to approve the following remuneration and disbursements:

Liquidation Period Remuneration (excl G5T) Disbursements (excl GST)

19 April 2017 to 30 June 2021 $19,266.00 $0.00

Creditors have previously approved our remuneration and disbursements as follows:

Voluntary Administration

. Remuneration (excl GST} Disbursements {excl G5T}
Period
23 August 2012 to 31 December
& $15,509.85 $1,420.91
2012
1 January 2013 to 25 Januar
v Y $5,000 $0.00
2013
Liquidation Period Remuneration {excl GST) Dishursements {excl GST)
From 25 January 2013 to
$15,000 $0.00

Interim Period

We estimate that the total cost of this Liquidation will be $34,266.00. This has increased from our
previous estimate as further investigations were required into the financial affairs of a related
company in the Group was required, adding to the length of the Liguidation. Further, a successful claim
against the directors of the Company for insolvent trading in contravention of section 588G of the
Corporations Act 2001 has resulted in an unsecured dividend of between 3 and 4 cents in the dollar.
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Adjudicating on, declaring and paying a dividend to unsecured creditors was not contemplated at the
second meeting of creditors on 25 January 2013.

This is my final remuneration approval request.

Declaration

|, Ross Blakeley, of FTI Consulting, have undertaken a proper assessment of the claims for
remuneration for the appointment as Liquidator of the Company in accordance with the law and
applicable professional standards. We are satisfied that the remuneration claimed is in respect of
necessary work, properly performed, or to be properly performed, in the conduct of this appointment
and further, that the disbursements that have been incurred in the conduct of the external
administration are necessary and proper.

Remuneration sought

The remuneration we are asking the Court to approve is summarised as follows:

Amount 5
For Period Applicable rates Timing of payment
{excl GST)
1% April 2017 As per the
Work already .
to 31 May $19,266.00 attached hourly Immediately
completed
2021 rates
Total $19,266.00

Schedule B includes a breakdown of time spent by staff members on each major task for work we have
already done.

Resolutions to be put to the Court are included at Schedute C for your information.

Disbursements

We are not required to seek creditor approval for costs paid to third parties or where we are
recovering a cost incurred on behalf of the administration, but we must provide details to creditors.
Details of these amounts are included in the attached Receipts and Payments.

We are required to obtain creditors’ consent for the payment of a dishursement where we, or a related
entity, may directly or indirectly obtain a profit.

We are not currently seeking approvai for disbursements.

ﬁ F T I
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Previous remuneration approvals

The following remuneration approvals have previously been provided by creditors:

Period For Approving body

23 August 2012 to
work already

31 December Creditors
completed
2012

1 January 2013 to
25 January 2013

future work Creditors

Total Voluntary Administration Period previously
approved

Period For Approving body

From 25 January
work already

2013 to interim Creditors
. completed
Period

Total Liquidation Period previously approved

Approved
amount §

$15,909.85

$5,000.00

$20,909.85

Approved
amount S

$15,000

$15,000

Amount paid S

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Amount paid 5

$9,670.50

$9,670.50

We are now seeking approval of a further $19,266.00 in remuneration which will bring tota!

remuneration claimed in this Liquidation to $34,266.00.

Likely impact on dividends

The Act sets the order for payment of claims against the Company and it provides for remuneration of
the Liguidation to be paid in priority to other claims. This ensures that when there are sufficient funds,

the Liguidation receives payment for the work done to recover assets, investigate the company’s
affairs, report to creditors and ASIC and distribute any available funds.

Based on:

B realisations to date

m estimated future realisations

ﬁ F T I
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@ estimated remuneration to complete the Liquidation

m the estimated total of creditor claims based on the Company’s records and claims lodged

| estimate that a dividend of between 3 and 4 cents in the dollar will be paid in the Liquidation. Please
note that this estimate is subject to a range of variables, particularly the future realisations and
creditor claims.

Summary of receipts and payments

A summary of the receipts and payments for the Liquidation for the period 16 April 2018 to 30 June
2021 is enclosed at Schedule E to this report.

Queries

Further supporting documentation for our remuneration claim can be provided to creditors on request.
You can also access information which may assist you on the following websites:

@ ARITA at www.arita.com.au/creditors

B ASIC at www.asic.gov.au (search for INFO 85)

If you have any queries in relation to the information in this report, please contact George Tansley of
this office on {03} 9604 0631 or by email at george.tansiey@fticonsulting.com.

Yours faithfully

Australian Music Group Holdings
{In Liquidation}

Ross Blakeley

Liquidator
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Attachments:

Schedule A — Details of work

Schedule B — Time spent by staff on each major task {work already done}
Schedule C — Resolutions

Schedule D — Explanation where remuneration previously approved
Scheduie E — Summary of receipts and payments

Schedule F — FT! Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020
Schedule G ~ FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 May 2019
Schedule H — FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 March 2017
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Schedule A — Details of work

Task area/General description

Period

Amount $ {excl GST)

Creditors

Creditor Enquiries, Requests &
Directions

Creditor reports

Investigations

insolvent Trading Claim

Administration

Correspondence

Document maintenance/file
review/checklist

Funds handling

ASIC Forms and lodgements

Work already done

19 Aprit 2017 to 30 June 2021
$19,266.00
17.7 hours

$6,748.00

o Receive and respond to creditor enquiries

= Maintaining creditor request log

8 Documenting

a Considering reasonableness of creditor requests

a Compiling information requested by creditors

& Preparing Statutory Report by Liquidator, and meeting and general reports to
creditors

9.2 hours

$5,525.00

= internal meetings to discuss status of litigation
& Preparing brief to solicitors
m Liaising with solicitors regarding insolvent trading claim

e Attending to seftlement matters

19.3 hours

$6,993.00

m General correspondence with various parties

@ Filing of documents

& File reviews

= Updating checklists

= Entering receipts and payments into accounting system
@ Requesting bank statements

& Bank account reconciliations

e Correspondence with bank regarding specific transfers

= Preparing and {ndging ASIC forms including 505, 5602/5603, 911 etc.

ﬁ F T |
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Task area/General description

ATO and other statutory
reporting

Planning / Review

Books and records / storage

Worl already done

= Correspondence with ASIC regarding statutory forms

& Preparing BAS

11 Discussions regarding status of administration

z Dealing with records in storage

i
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Schedule C — Resolutions

Resolution 1 ~ Retrospective Remuneration

“That the remuneration of the Liguidator, their partners and staff, for the period from 19 April 2017 to
30 June 2021 is approved for payment in the amount of $19,266.00, exclusive of GST, to be drawn from
available funds immediately or as funds become available. Remuneration is calculated in accordance
with the hourly rates applicable to the grades or classifications set out in the FTI Consulting Schedule of
Standard Rates dated 1 March 2017, 1 May 2019 and 1 April 20207
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Schedule D - Explanation where remuneration previously approved

At the creditors meeting of 25 January 2013, creditors approved our prospective remuneration of

$15,000.00. To date, we have drawn $9,670.50 and applied it in payment of our remuneration. We will
draw and apply a further $5,329.50 after the distribution of the settlement sum from the insolvent

trading claim, as detailed in the attached Report to Creditors.

Fees zlready
approved as at 25

Approval sought
for work already

Task January 2013 done
SRS CR S
Assets S -5 -
Creditors $ 4,500.00 $ 6,748.00 °
Employees S -5 -
Trade on S - S -
Investigation s 6,000.00 - S 5,525.00
Dividend S - $ -
Admm!stratlon $ 4 500 00 S 6 993 OU

) TOta[ (ex GST} e $ e _ .

15, OUO 00 :

Total Remuneration prEVIOI.lSh' approved

leference {see below table for further breakdown}

Payment reconc:lxatnon

Total remuneration cialmed

Amount pald to date

Amount Outstandmg

19,266.00

i

1

~ Approval sought

for future work

" Total fees sought

per task

11,248.00

11,525.00

11, 493 00
34, 266 00
15 000 00

19 266 00

_ s 34,266.00

4 96?050

S 24,595.50

In the below table we compare, on a task basis, the difference between our previous remuneration

report and this report, together with explanations for the difference.
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is
Fees already Tota! per task
Task 235pjpar:tjae|ifazsoit3 : y ror:ap;z;ﬁous Difference ' Reasons for difference
S S S e
Assets s - & -5 - N/A
: : ' The length of the administration as a
result of investigations into the
Creditors o5 4,500.00 § 11,248.00 § 6,748.00 financial affairs of the companies in the
' - group was not foreseen, contributing
. - to additional reporting requirements.
Employees - -5 -3 - N/A
Trade on S -8 -8 - N/A

Investigation 5 6,000.00. S 11,525.00 S 5,525.00

The commerciality of pursuing an
insolvent trading claim, guantum and
evidentiary requirements were not
foreseen.

Dividend $ - $ - $ - N/A

Administration 4,500.00 - S 11,493.00 S 6,993.00

Total {exGST} . §  15,000.00  $

The length of the administration as a
result of investigations into the
financial affairs of the companies in the
- group was not foreseen, contributing
to additional meetings, statutory tasks
and funds handling.

34,266.00 < $  19,266.00

We also make the following general comments regarding the progress of the Liquidation that have

affected our previous remuneration estimate:

]

i3]

Determining the most just and efficient method of distributing the proceeds of the insolvent trading
claim considering the number of Companies in the Group and the effect of the Deed of Cross
Guarantee was not foreseen by the Liquidator.

Similarly, making an application to the court under sections 90-15, 60-10(1}(c} and 65-45 of
Schedule 2 — Insolvency Practice Schedule {Corporations} to the Act, seeking various orders and
directions necessary to fairly and efficiently finalise the Liquidations was not foreseen by the
Liquidator.

Consideration as to whether a pooling determination or a pooling order would be appropriate in the
circumstances was required.

Additional time was required to adjudicate on approximately 330 unsecured creditors as the COVID-
19 pandemic forced staff of this office to deal with physical and electronic records off site.

ﬁ F T I
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We have provided an explanation of tasks remaining to be completed, including our estimated
costs to complete those tasks, to support our current remuneration approval request, in this report

and in Schedule A.

16
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Schedule E — Summary of receipts and payments — 16 April 2018 to 30

June 2021

Receipis
interest Income

Total Receipis

Paymeunts

Liguidator's Remuneration

Total Payments

Net Receipis

" ys0.4a

158.44

10,637.55

{10,478.11)
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Schedule F — FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020

Classiication

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Consultant 2

Consuitant 1

Standard
rates 5/hous®

720

660

580

520

470

430

390

360

General guide to dassifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and extensive
experience in all forms of inselvency administrations. Alternatively, has
proven leadership experience in business or industry, bringing specialist
expertise and knowledge to the administration.

Specialist skilis brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very seniar level over many
years, Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered Liquidator
and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive leadership/senior management
experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a very
senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee, where
required. May also be a Registered Liquidater and/or Trustee or have
experience sufficient to support an application to become registered.
Alternatively, has significant senior management experience in business or
industry, with specialist skills and/or qualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong technical
and commercial skilis. Has primary conduct of small to large administrations,
controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to the appointee, but
otherwise responsible for all aspects of the administration. Alternatively, has
significant senior management experience in business or industry, with
specialist skills and/or qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround Association
professional member. Well developed technical and commercial skills. Has
experience in complex matters and has conduct of small to medium
administrations, supervising a small team of professionals. Assists planning
and control of medium to larger administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations. Can
supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on larger
administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified chartered
accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks on small
administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on medium to
large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Required to assist with
day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

ﬁ CFONSITIN
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Standard

Classification .
rates 3/hour™®

Associate 2 335
Associate 1 300
Junior Associate 220
Administration 2 220
Junior Accountant 170
Administration 1 185

General guide to classifications

Typically a qualified accountant. Required to assist with day-te-day tasks
under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day tasks
under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skilis with significant experience supporting
professional staff, including superior knowledge of software packages,
personal assistance work and/for office management. May also have
appropriate bookkeeping, accounting support services ar similar skilis.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in an
administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills,

* All rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are subject to

periodical review,
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Schedule G — FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 May

2019

Classification

Senibr Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard
rates
$/hour*

695

625

575

515

465

400

General guide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business er industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to suppert an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with speciaiist skills and/or
qualifications.

Significant experience across alf types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsibie for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Wel! developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists planning and control of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the condurct of simpler administrations.

fmE..F..=
CONSULTING
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Standard
Classification rates
$/hour®
Consultant 2 375
Consultant 1 335
Associate 2 320
Associate 1 300
Junior Asscciate 195
Administration 2 205
Junior Accountant 155
Administration 1 165

21

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant (or similar). Reguired to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervisicon of senior staff.

Typically a gualified accountant. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervisicn of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff,

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or simifar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

* All rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Censulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are

subject to periodical review.
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Schedule H ~ FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1

March 2017

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard

rates
S/hour*

625

580

570

510

440

380

General guide to classifications

Registered Liguidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior fevel over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
ieadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application tc hecome
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
gualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skilis. Has primary conduct of smali to large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise respansible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnarcund
Assaciation professional member. Weli developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists planning and centrol of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of smail to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

b E..T. I
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Standard
Classification rates
s/hour®
Consultant 2 360
Consultant 1 315
Associate 2 280
Associate 1 260
Junior Associate 185
Administration 2 185
Junior Accountant 155
Administraticn 1 155
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General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Mas experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks cn
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administraticns.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience, Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Reguired to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well develeped administrative skills with sigrificant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May alsc have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

* Alf rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are

subject to periodical review.



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELEBOURNE

COMMERCIAL COURT
CORPORATIONS LIST

S ECI 2021

IN THE MATTER OF AUSTRALIAN MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) ACN 127
926 434

ROSS ANDREW BLAKELEY IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF AUSTRALIAN
MUSIC GROUP PTY LTD (IN LIQUIDATION) AND OTHERS (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHEDULE)

First Plaintiff
CERTIFICATE IDENTIFYING EXHIBIT
Date of document: 12 July 2021 Solicitor's Code: 230
Filed on behalf of. The Plaintiffs DX: 259 Melbourne
Prepared by: Tel: (03) 9258 3555
Maddocks Fax: (03) 9258 3666
Lawyers Ref: MO1H:MJER: 6057887
Collins Square, Tower Two Attention: Marelda Hibberd
Level 25, 727 Collins Street Email: marelda. hibberd@maddocks.com.au

Melbourne, Victoria 3008

This is the exhibit marked "RAB-13" now produced and shown to Ross Andrew Blakeley at the
time of swearing his affidavit on 12 July 2021.

Before ma:

{_é . _ ISABELLA KESARA PIERR

. - 727 Colling 5y | e
Signature of pérson taking affidavit An ﬁ.l.liill.-‘]r‘in:; r{.r::ar;?l::rlilﬁﬁ:“ j

withie MAng of thes Lesgal

o - Profossion Unif '
5 - i Horm Law (Viclogs.,
/%.—‘J‘ ,ﬁ#’.‘f#"‘”’

Ross Andrew Blakele
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Copy of the Remuneration Approval Report for
AMG dated 8 July 2021
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Summary

This remuneraticn approval report provides you with the information that the Corporations Act 2001
(Act} and the Code of Professional Practice published by the Australian Restructuring Insclvency and
Turnaround Association {ARITA} requires creditors to receive to make an informed decision regarding
the approvai of our remuneration for undertaking the Liquidation of Australian Music Group {In
Liguidation} ACN 127 926 434 {the “Company”).

We are asking the Court to approve the following remuneration and dishursements:

Appointment type/Period Remuneration (excl GST) Disbursements (excl GST)
Liguidation — 28 November
d $33,912.00 $0.00
2017 to 30 June 2021
Liquidation — 1 July 2021 to
a ¥ $45,182.84 $0.00

Finalisation

Creditors have previously approved our remuneration and dishursements as follows:

Appointmenti type/Period Remuneration {excl GST) Disbursements {excl G5T)

Voluntary Administration — 23

August 2012 to 31 December $12,377.85 $0.00
2012

Voluntary Administration ~ 1

January 2013 to 25 January $7,500.00 S0.00
2013

Liquidation — 25 January 2013

15,000.00 0.00
to Interim Period ° >

We estimate that the total cost of this Liquidation will be $94,094.84. This has increased frem our
previous estimate as further investigations were required into the financial affairs of a related
company in the Group was required, adding to the length of the Liguidation. Further, a successful claim
against the directors of the Company for insolvent trading in contravention of section 588G of the
Corporations Act 2001 has resulted in an unsecured dividend of between 3 and 4 cents in the dollar.
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Adjudicating on, declaring and paying a dividend to unsecured creditors was not contempiated at the
second meeting of creditors on 25 January 2013.

This is my final remuneration approval request.
Declaration

|, Ross Blakeley, of FTI Consulting, have undertaken a proper assessment of the claims for
remuneration for the appointment as Liquidator of the Company in accordance with the law and
applicable professional standards. | am satisfied that the remuneration claimed is in respect of
necessary work, properly performed, or to be properly performed, in the conduct of this appointment.

Remuneration sought

The remuneration we are asking the Court to approve is summarised as follows:

' Amount 5 ) Timing of
For Period Applicable rates
{excl GST} payment
27 November As per the
Work already P When funds are
2017 to 30 June $33,912.0C¢ attached hourly .
completed available
2021 rates
As per the
1 June 2021 to When funds are
Future work o $45,182.84 attached hourly )
Finalisation available
rates
Total $94,094.84

Details of the work already done and future work that we intend to do are enclosed at Schedule A,

Schedule B includes a breakdown of time spent by staff members on each major task for work we have
already done.

Resolutions to be considered by the Court are included at Schedule € for your information.

Disbursements

We are not required to seek creditor approval for costs paid to third parties or where we are
recovering a cost incurred on behalf of the administration, but we must previde details to creditors.
Details of these amounts are included in the attached Receipts and Payments.
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We are required to obtain creditors’ consent for the payment of a disbursement where we, or a

related entity, may directly or indirectly obtain a profit.

We are not currently seeking approval for disbursements.

Previous remuneration approvals

The following remuneration approvals have previously been provided by creditors:

Period For Approving body

23 August 2012 to
g work already

31 December Creditors
completed
2012

1January 2013 to  work already

Creditors
25 January 2013 completed

Total Voluntary Administration remuneration previously
approved

Period For Approving body

25 lanuary 2013

. ] future work Creditors
to Interim Period

Total Liquidation remuneration previously approved

Approved
amount $

$12,377.85

$7,500.00

$19,877.85

Approved
amount S

$15,000.00

$15,000.00

Amount paid $

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Amount paid $

$209.00

$0.00

We are now seeking approval of a further $45,182.84 in remuneration which will bring total

remuneration claimed in this Liguidation to $94,094.84.

Likely impact on dividends

The Act sets the order for payment of claims against the Company and it provides for remuneration of
the Liquidator to be paid in priority to other claims. This ensures that when there are sufficient funds,
the Liquidator receives payment for the work done to recover assets, investigate the company’s affairs,

report to creditors and ASIC and distribute any available funds.

F T I
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Based on:

e realisations to date
B estimated future realisations
m estimated remuneration to complete the Liquidation

& the estimated total of creditor claims based on the Company’s records and claims lodged

We estimate that a dividend of between 3 and 4 cents in the dollar will be paid in the Liquidation to
unsecured creditors. Please note that this estimate is subject to a range of variables, particularly the
future realisations and creditor claims.

Summary of receipts and payments

A summary of the receipts and payments for the Liguidation as at 30 June 2021 is enclosed at Schedule
E to this report.

An annual administration return was lodged with ASIC on 8 April 2021 which also provides information
on the cenduct of the administration.

Queries

Further supporting documentation for our remuneration claim can be provided to creditors on
request.

You can also access information which may assist you on the following websites:

= ARITA at www.arita.com.au/creditors

@ ASIC at www.asic.gov.au (search for INFO 85}.

If you have any queries in relation to the information in this report, please contact George Tansley of
this office on 03 9604 0631 or by email at george.tansley@fticonsulting.com.

Yours faithfully
Australian Music Group

(In Liquidation}

s %
/{//,/r"/" Bt

Ross Blakeley @

Liquidator

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING



Remuneration Approval Report

Attachments:

Schedule A — Details of work

Schedule B — Time spent by staff on each major task (work already done)
Schedule C — Resolutions

Schedule D — Explanation where remuneration previcusty approved
Schedule E ~ Summary of receipts and payments

Schedule F — FTI Consutting schedule of rates effective 1 July 2021
Schedule H — £TI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020
Schedule H —FTI C.cnsuiting schedule of rates effective 1 May 2015

Schedule | — FTl Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 March 2017
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Schedule C — Resolutions

Resolution 1 — Retrospective Remuneration

“That the remuneration of the Liquidator, their partners and staff, for the period from 28 November
2017 to 30 June 2021 is approved for payment in the amount of $33,912.00, exciusive of GST, to be
drawn from available funds immediately or as funds become available. Remuneration s calculated in
accordance with the hourly rates applicable to the grades or classifications set out in the FTI Consulting
Schedule of Standard Rates dated 1 March 2017, 1 May 2019 and 1 Aprif 2020”.,

Resglution 2 — Future Remuneration

“That the future remuneration of the Liquidation for the period from 1 July 2021 to finglisation of the
Liquidation, is determined at a sum equal to the cost of time spent by the Liquidator and their partners
and staff, calculated in accordance with the hourly rates applicable to the grodes or classifications set
out in the ET1 Consulting Schedule of Standard Rates dated 1 July 2021, up to a capped amount of
§45,182.84, exclusive of GST, and that the Liguidator can draw the remuneration from available funds
as time is incurred on a monthly basis or as funds become available”.
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Schedule D - Explanation where remuneration previously approved

At the creditors meeting of 25 January 2013, creditors approved our prospective remuneration of
$15,000.00. We have drawn and applied $209.00 in payment of our remuneration. We will draw and
apply a further $14,789.91 after the distribution of the settlement sum from the insclvent trading
claim, as detailed in the attached Report to Creditors. Our remuneration has exceeded this interim
amount and we are now seeking approval of a further capped amount of $45,182.84 to enable us to
complete the Liquidation.

Fees already Approval sought : Approval sought ;Totaifeessought
“approved as at 25~ for work aiready for future work per task
Task " lanuary 2013 done ' 5

Assets S - 5 -8 - 3 .
Creditors S 5,474,560 : S 17,961.00 S i0,001.81 $ 33,437.31
Employees S - 8 -8 - 8 -
Trade on S -8 - S - 8 -
Investigation s 4,308.11 $ 804.00 S - 5 5,112.11
Dividend S -8 6,624.50 § 29,855.60 S 36,580.10
_Administration 5 521630 S 852250 % 522543 5 1896423
Total (ex GST) 14,998.91 © $ 3391200 $ 4518284 $  94,093.75
Total Remuneration previously approved . .....$ 1500000
_Difference (see below table for further breakdown) e $_79,093.75
Payment reconciliation e e
Total remuneration claimed S 9400375
Amount paid to date ‘ . S S__ 209 00
Pl Outstanding e e : 93 coae

in the below table we compare, on a task basis, the difference between our previous remuneration
report and this report, together with explanations for the difference.
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Administration S 521630 S 18,964.23 S 13,747.93

Total(exGST)  $

Fees already Total per task
Task ; ;fi;?;:iazsoi; \ ron:a?jrlzgflous Difference Reasaons for difference
S S R
Assets s . S - $ - N/A
: " The length of the administration as a
resuit of investigations into the
Creditors § 547450 § 3343731 ¢ 2796281 nancialaffairs of the companies in
" the group was not foreseen,
: : i contributing to additional reporting
requirements.
Employees 5 -8 -8 - N/A
Trade on S -5 $ - N/A
Investigation -5 4,308.11 S 511211 5§ 804.00 N/A
Dividend ; g . 36,580.10 ~ § 36,580.10 A dividend to unsecured creditors was
: . . not foreseen.

" The iength of the administration as a

" result of investigations into the

" financial affairs of the companies in

" the group was not foreseen,

* contributing to additional meetings,
statutory tasks and funds handling.

1499831 §  94,093.75 $  79,094.84

We also make the following general comments regarding the progress of the Liquidation that have

affected our previous remuneration estimate:

:2]

Determining the most just and efficient method of distributing the proceeds of the insolvent trading
claim considering the number of Companies in the Group and the effect of the Deed of Cross
Guarantee was not foreseen by the Liguidator.

Similarly, making an application to the court under sections 90-15, 60-10{1}(c} and 65-45 of
Schedule 2 ~ Insolvency Practice Schedule {Corporations) to the Act, seeking various orders and
directions necessary to fairly and efficiently finalise the Liquidations was not foreseen by the
Liguidator.

Consideration as to whether a pooling determination or a pooling order would be appropriate in the
circumstances was reguired.

Additional time was required to adjudicate on approximately 330 unsecured creditors as the COVID-
19 pandemic forced staff of this office to deal with physical and electronic records off site.

We have provided an explanation of tasks remaining to be completed, including our estimated costs to

complete those tasks, to support our current remuneration approval request, in this report and in
Schedule A.

ﬁ CONSULTING
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Schedule E — Summary of receipts and payments 30 April 2018 to
30 June 2021

Receipts S
Total Receipis .00

Payments

Bank Charges ' 0.37

Total Payments 0.37

Net Receipts (0.37}
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Schedule F — FT1 Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 July 2021

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

Standard
rates
S/hour*

720

660

580

530

480

435

General guide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior ievel over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liguidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, compiex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liguidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Well developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists ptanning and control of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and contrel of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the ¢onduct of simpler administrations.

TR .
CONSULTING
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Classification

Consultant 2

Consultant 1

Associate 2

Associate 1

Treasury

Junior Associate

Administration 2

Administration 1

Junior Accountant

Standard
rates
sthour®

330

360

335

300

220

220

220

185

170

13

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Reguired o assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically, qualified accountant and/or bookkeeper working in a
treasury function. Undertakes treasury activities and is skifled in all
aspects of bookkeeping, funds handling, banking, payroll, tax
compliance, accounts receivable and accounts payable.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skil!s.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

* Alf rates listed above are exclusive of GST

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are
subject to periodical review,

FFFE T I
CONSULTING
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Schedule G ~ FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 April 2020

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

senior Consultant 1

Standard
rages
s/hour®

720

660

580

520

470

430

General guide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in ail forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skiils brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liguidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liguidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an application to become
registered, Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
gualifications.

Significant experience across zll types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small to farge
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Well developed technical and
coramercial skilis. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionals. Assists planning and controf of medium to larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and contrel of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING
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Standard
Classification rates
S/hour®
Consultant 2 380
Consultant 1 360
Associate 2 335
Associate 1 300
Junior Associate 220
Administration 2 220
Junior Accountant 17C
Administration 1 185

* All rates listed above are exclusive of GST

20

General guide to classifications’

Can supervise staff, Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Austratia qualified
chartered accountant {or similar). Required to control the tasks cn
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years' experience. Required to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Reguired to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree,

Weli developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skills and experience to support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

The FT1 Consuiting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are subject to

periodical review.

M E..T I
CONSULTING
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Schedule H - FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 May 2019

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senior Consultant 1

tandard
rates
s/hour®

695

625

575

515

465

400

General puide to classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient to support an applicaticn to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small {o large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointeg, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
administration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Assaciation professional member. Welt developed technical and
commercial skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of smail to medium administrations, supervising a small tearn of
professionals. Assists planning and control of medium te larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

ﬁ F T I
CONSULTING
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Standard
Classification rates
s/hour®
Consultant 2 375
Consultant 1 335
Associate 2 320
Associate 1 300
Junior Associate 185
Administration 2 205
Junior Accountant 155
Administration 1 165

* Alf rates listed above are exclusive of GST

Genertal guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administraticons.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia qualified
chartered accountant (or similar}. Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Required o
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Required 1o assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Reguired to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowiedge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skiils and experience 1o support professional staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are subject to

periodical review.

22
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Schedule | - FTI Consulting schedule of rates effective 1 March

2017

Classification

Senior Managing
Director/Appointee

Managing Director

Senior Director

Director

Senior Consultant 2

Senjor Consultant 1

Standard
raies
S/hour*

625

580

570

510

440

380

General guide 1o classifications

Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee, with specialist skills and
extensive experience in all forms of insolvency administrations.
Alternatively, has proven leadership experience in business or
industry, bringing specialist expertise and knowledge to the
administration.

Specialist skills brought to the administration. Extensive experience in
managing large, complex engagements at a very senior level over
many years. Can deputise for the appointee. May also be a Registered
Liquidator and/or Trustee. Alternatively, has extensive
leadership/senior management experience in business or industry.

Extensive experience in managing large, complex engagements at a
very senior level over many years. Can deputise for the appointee,
where required. May also be a Registered Liquidator and/or Trustee
or have experience sufficient te support an application to become
registered. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
qualifications.

Significant experience across all types of administrations. Strong
technical and commercial skills. Has primary conduct of small te large
administrations, controlling a team of professionals. Answerable to
the appointee, but otherwise responsible for all aspects of the
adminisiration. Alternatively, has significant senior management
experience in business or industry, with specialist skills and/or
quaiifications.

Typically an Australian Restructuring Insolvency & Turnaround
Association professional member. Wel! developed technical and
commercia skills. Has experience in complex matters and has conduct
of small to medium administrations, supervising a small team of
professionais. Assists planning and contrel of medium fo larger
administrations.

Assists with the planning and control of small to medium-sized
administrations. May have the conduct of simpler administrations.

ﬁ F T |
CONSULTING
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Standard
Classification rates
s/hour*
Consultant 2 360
Consuitant 1 318
Associate 2 280
Associate 1 260
Junior Associate 185
Administration 2 185
Junior Accountant 1556
Administration 1 155

General guide to classifications

Can supervise staff. Has experience performing more difficult tasks on
larger administrations.

Typically Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia gualified
chartered accountant (or similar). Required to control the tasks on
small administrations and is responsible for assisting with tasks on
medium to large-sized administrations.

Qualified accountant with several years’ experience. Reguired to
assist with day-to-day tasks under the supervisien of senior staff.

Typically a qualified accountant. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff.

Typically a university graduate. Required to assist with day-to-day
tasks under the supervision of senior staff,

Undergraduate in the latter stage of their university degree.

Well developed administrative skills with significant experience
supporting professional staff, including superior knowledge of
software packages, personal assistance work and/or office
management. May also have appropriate bookkeeping, accounting
support services or similar skills.

Undergraduate in the early stage of their university degree.

Has appropriate skills and experience to suppert professionai staff in
an administrative capacity. May also have appropriate bookkeeping,
accounting support services or similar skills.

* Alf rates listed above are exclusive of G5T

The FTI Consulting Standard Rates above apply to the Corporate Finance & Restructuring practice and are subject to

periodical review.

fmE..T I
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